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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
 

SEC FORM 17-Q 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17 OF THE SECURITIES 
REGULATION CODE AND SRC RULE 17(2) (b) THEREUNDER 

 
1.  For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2025 
 
2.  SEC Identification Number A199701584   3.  BIR Tax Identification No.  005-469-606 
  
4.  Exact name of  issuer as specified in its charter Philippine Business Bank, Inc., A Savings Bank 
 
5.  Caloocan         6.        (SEC Use Only) 

  Province, Country or other jurisdiction 
of  incorporation or organization 

       Industry Classification Code: 
 

 
7.  350 Rizal Avenue corner 8th Avenue Grace Park, Caloocan City         1400________ 
 Address of principal office             Postal Code 
 
8.  (02) 8363-33-33         
 Issuer's telephone number, including area code 
 
9.  Not Applicable       
 Former name, former address, and former fiscal year, if  changed since last report. 
 
10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of  the SRC, or Sec. 4 and 8 of  the RSA 
 

Title of  Each Class Number of  Shares of  Common Stock 
Outstanding and Amount of  Debt 

Outstanding 
Common 818,750,094 

       
11.  Are any or all of  the securities listed on a Stock Exchange? 
 
 Yes   [ x ]    No   [   ] 
 
 The Bank was listed in Philippine Stock Exchange last February 19, 2013 
 

If  yes, state the name of  such Stock Exchange and the class/es of  securities listed therein: 
 

PHILIPPINE STOCK EXCHANGE                        COMMON SHARES OF STOCK 
 
12.  Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: 
 

(a) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 17 of  the Code and SRC Rule 17 
thereunder or Sections 11 of  the RSA and RSA Rule 11(a)-1 thereunder, and Sections 
26 and 141 of  the Corporation Code of  the Philippines, during the preceding twelve 
(12) months (or for such shorter period the registrant was required to file such 
reports) 
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 Yes   [ √ ]     No   [   ] 
 
 (b) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past ninety (90) days. 
  
 Yes   [   ]    No   [ √ ] 
 
 
PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
Item I: 
Financial Statements (Attachment 1 - Unaudited Interim Financial Statements) 
 
Item II: 
Management's Discussion & Analysis of  Financial Position and Results of  Operations 
 
PART II – OTHER INFORMATION 
 
Please refer to the following: 
 
Attachment 2 – Aging of  Past Due Loans and Other Receivables 
Attachment 3 – Consolidated Financial Ratios 
 
There are no material disclosures that have not been reported under SEC Form 17-C during the 
period covered by this report. 
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SIGNATURES  
 
 
  
 Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Regulation Code, the issuer has duly 
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 
    
 
      
  
PHILIPPINE BUSINESS BANK, INC. 
Issuer 
 
 
 
By: 
 
 
________________________________ 
ROLANDO R. AVANTE 
Vice Chairman. President & CEO 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
ROLANDO G. ALVENDIA 
Chief Accountant 
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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
Item 1. Financial Statements 
 
The accompanying financial reporting package (FRP) of Philippine Business Bank (“PBB” or 
the “Bank”) which comprise the Bank’s financial position as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 
2024 and the statements of income, statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes 
in equity and statements of cash flows for the six-month periods ending June 30, 2025 and June 
30, 2024 have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 
(PFRS). 
 
Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 

For the six-months ended

6/30/2025 6/30/2024 Variance %

Interest Income

Loans and other receivables  5,069,813,089  ₱     4,512,067,316  ₱     557,745,773  ₱    12.4          

Investment and trading securities 661,744,348            575,403,866            86,340,482          15.0          

Due from BSP and other banks 100,705,875            96,621,938             4,083,937            4.2           

5,832,263,311         5,184,093,120         648,170,191        12.5          

Interest expense (2,139,041,176)        (1,836,532,376)        (302,508,800)       16.5          

Net interest income 3,693,222,135        3,347,560,744        345,661,391        10.3          
 
In the first half of 2025, the Bank recorded an increase of 12.4% and 15.0% in interest income 
on loans and other receivables, and investment and trading securities, respectively. The increase 
in interest income was a result of managed interest rates. Overall interest income posted a 12.5% 

growth year-over-year (“YoY”) or ₱648.2 million improvement versus six-months ended June 
2024. 
 

Funding cost was higher in the first six months of 2025 up by ₱302.5 million versus 1H2024 due 
to higher deposit rates and availment of bills payable.  
 

As a result, net interest income reached ₱3,693.2 million for the first half ended June 2025, up 
10.3% YoY. 
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For the six-months ended

6/30/2025 6/30/2024 Variance %

Net interest income  3,693,222,135  ₱     3,347,560,744  ₱     345,661,391  ₱       10.3           

Service charges, fees, and commissions 244,307,741           141,122,284           103,185,457           73.1           

Miscellaneous 196,494,444           303,815,803           (107,321,359)          (35.3)          

Other income 440,802,185            444,938,087            (4,135,902)              (0.9)            

4,134,024,320         3,792,498,831         341,525,489            9.0             

Non-interest expenses (2,323,933,404)        (2,082,475,941)        (241,457,463)          11.6           

Core income 1,810,090,916         1,710,022,890        100,068,026           5.9              
 
Income from service charges, fees, and commissions increased by 73.1%, boosted by higher 
Makaguro loan fees. Miscellaneous income decreased by 35.3%, attributable to lower foreign 

exchange gains. As a result, other income declined by 0.9% to ₱440.8 million. Operating expenses in 

the first half  of  2025 amounted to ₱2,323.9 million, or 11.6% higher than ₱2,082.5 million in 
1H2024. This is mainly due to the growth in the attendant increase in total salaries, employee 
benefits expenses, and taxes and licenses growth. 
 

As a result, PBB’s core income grew by 5.9% from ₱1,710.0 million last year to ₱1,810.1 million as 
of  June 2025. 
 

For the six-months ended

6/30/2025 6/30/2024 Variance %

Core income  1,810,090,915  ₱     1,710,022,890  ₱     100,068,025  ₱    5.9           

Trading gains (losses) (49,284,439)            (127,798,877)          78,514,438          (61.4)        

Pre-tax pre-provision profit 1,760,806,476        1,582,224,013        178,582,463        11.3         

Loan loss provision (350,000,000)          (200,000,000)          (150,000,000)       75.0          

Profit before tax 1,410,806,476         1,382,224,013         28,582,463          2.1           

Taxes (345,364,520)          (350,178,523)          4,814,003            (1.4)          

Net income 1,065,441,956        1,032,045,490        33,396,466         3.2            
 
 

PBB's trading performance improved by ₱78.5 million vs the same period last year. This 

brought pre-tax pre-provision profit to ₱1,760.8 million as of June 2025, up 11.3% YoY. 
 

The Bank set aside a total of ₱350.0 million as of the first half of 2025 for its loan loss build, 

75% higher. As a result, net income ended at ₱1,065.4 million as of the first half of 2025, 3.2% 

higher than the first half 2024’s ₱1,032.0 million. 
 
Annualized return on average equity (ROAE) and annualized return on average assets (ROAA) 
stood at 10.78% and 1.29%, respectively. 
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For the quarters ended June 30, 2025 and March 31, 2025: 
 

For the quarters ended

6/30/2025 3/31/2025 Variance %

Interest Income

Loans and other receivables  2,553,698,071  ₱     2,516,115,018  ₱     37,583,053  ₱     1.5           

Investment and trading securities 343,328,864            318,415,484            24,913,380          7.8           

Due from BSP and other banks 58,125,672             42,580,203             15,545,469          36.5          

2,955,152,606         2,877,110,705         78,041,901          2.7           

Interest expense (1,087,612,326)        (1,051,428,850)        (36,183,476)         3.4           

Net interest income 1,867,540,280        1,825,681,855        41,858,425         2.3            
 

Interest income in the second quarter of 2025 ended at ₱2,955.2 million, 2.7% higher than 

₱2,877.1 million in the first quarter due to the continued increase in earning asset volume and 

sustained interest rate levels. Overall interest expense stood at ₱1,087.6 million in 2Q2025 versus 

last quarter’s ₱1,051.4 million mainly due to the growth in volume of time deposits. 
 

As a result, net interest income reached ₱1,867.5 million for the quarter ended June 2025, 2.3% 

higher against 1Q2025’s ₱1,825.7 million. 
 
 

For the quarters ended

6/30/2025 3/31/2025 Variance %

Net interest income  1,867,540,280  ₱     1,825,681,855  ₱     41,858,425  ₱     2.3           

Service charges, fees, and commissions 140,707,346           103,600,395           37,106,951          35.8         

Miscellaneous 78,900,458             117,593,986           (38,693,528)        (32.9)        

Other income 219,607,804            221,194,381            (1,586,577)           (0.7)          

2,087,148,084         2,046,876,236         40,271,848          2.0           

Non-interest expenses (1,172,348,894)        (1,151,584,511)        (20,764,383)         1.8           

Core income 914,799,190           895,291,725           19,507,465         2.2            
 
 

Other income ended at ₱219.6 million in 2Q2025. Service charges, fees, and commissions 
increased by 35.8% versus last linked quarter (“LLQ”) while miscellaneous income was lower 
by 32.9%. 
 
Operating expenses slightly increased by 1.8% versus last linked quarter (“LLQ”). As a result 
of the changes in the Bank’s key income and expenses, core income increased by 2.2% in the 
second quarter versus the first quarter of 2025. 
 
As a result of the changes in the Bank’s key income and expense items, core income increased 
by 2.2% in the second quarter versus the first quarter of 2025. 
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For the quarters ended

6/30/2025 3/31/2025 Variance %

Core income  914,799,190  ₱        895,291,725  ₱        19,507,465  ₱     2.2           

Trading gains (losses) (62,670,956)            13,386,517             (76,057,473)         (568.2)       

Pre-tax pre-provision profit 852,128,234           908,678,242           (56,550,008)        (6.2)         

Loan loss provision (175,000,000)          (175,000,000)          -                      -           

Profit before tax 677,128,234            733,678,242            (56,550,008)         (7.7)          

Taxes (201,709,158)          (143,655,362)          (58,053,796)         40.4          

Net income 475,419,076           590,022,880           (114,603,804)      (19.4)        
 
Pre-tax pre-provision profit during the second quarter was 6.2% lower versus LLQ due to a 
reversal in trading performance. 
 

The Bank set aside ₱175.0 million for its loan loss reserves in 2Q2025. 
 

As a result, net income ended at ₱475.4 million. 
 
For the quarters ended June 30, 2025 and 2024: 
 

For the quarters ended

6/30/2025 6/30/2024 Variance %

Interest Income

Loans and other receivables  2,553,698,071  ₱     2,339,261,449  ₱     214,436,622  ₱    9.2           

Investment and trading securities 343,328,864            287,188,784            56,140,080          19.5          

Due from BSP and other banks 58,125,672             38,378,511             19,747,161          51.5          

2,955,152,606         2,664,828,744         290,323,862        10.9          

Interest expense (1,087,612,326)        (941,776,532)          (145,835,794)       15.5          

Net interest income 1,867,540,280        1,723,052,212        144,488,068        8.4            
 

Overall interest income in the second quarter of 2025 was 10.9% higher, an increase of ₱290.3 
million, compared to the second quarter of 2024.  Interest income on loans increased by 9.2% 
versus 2Q2024 mainly due to higher volumes. 
 

Similarly, interest expense also grew from ₱941.8 million in 2Q2024 to ₱1,087.6 million this 

quarter largely due to the ₱127.4 million increase in interest expense on deposit liabilities.  
 

As a result, net interest income as of 2Q2025 stood at ₱1,867.5 million, 8.4% higher than 

2Q2024’s ₱1,723.1 million. 
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For the quarters ended

6/30/2025 6/30/2024 Variance %

Net interest income  1,867,540,280  ₱     1,723,052,212  ₱     144,488,068  ₱    8.4           

Service charges, fees, and commissions 140,707,346           70,531,982             70,175,364          99.5         

Miscellaneous 78,900,458             163,718,682           (84,818,224)        (51.8)        

Other income 219,607,804            234,250,664            (14,642,860)         (6.3)          

2,087,148,084         1,957,302,876         129,845,208        6.6           

Non-interest expenses (1,172,348,894)        (1,029,782,276)        (142,566,618)       13.8          

Core income 914,799,190           927,520,600           (12,721,410)        (1.4)          
 

Other income in the second quarter of 2025 recorded a 6.3% decrease from ₱234.3 million in the 

same quarter last year. Non-interest expenses were up by 13.8% to ₱1,172.3 million from ₱1,029.8 
million. 
 

As a result, core income decreased slightly by 1.4% than the second quarter last year of ₱927.5 

million to ₱914.8 million in 2Q2025. 

 For the quarters ended

6/30/2025 6/30/2024 Variance %

Core income  914,799,190  ₱        927,520,600  ₱       12,721,410 )(₱      (1.4)          

Trading gains (losses) (62,670,956)            (75,124,068)            12,453,112          (16.6)        

Pre-tax pre-provision profit 852,128,234           852,396,532           (268,298)            (0.0)         

Loan loss provision (175,000,000)          (150,000,000)          (25,000,000)         16.7          

Profit before tax 677,128,234            702,396,532            (25,268,298)         (3.6)          

Taxes (201,709,158)          (181,821,123)          (19,888,035)         10.9          

Net income 475,419,076           520,575,409           (45,156,333)        (8.7)          
 
 

PBB incurred lower trading losses this quarter amounting to ₱62.7 million from ₱75.1 million in the 
same quarter last year. Pre-tax pre-provision profit remained flat versus 2Q2024. 
 

Loan loss provision in the second quarter of 2025 reached ₱175.0 million higher by 16.7% in the 
same quarter last year.  
 

As a result, net income ended at ₱475.4 million in the first half of 2025. 
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Financial condition as of June 30, 2025 versus December 31, 2024: 
 

Amounts in Thousand Pesos 6/30/2025 12/31/2024 Variance %

Loans and other receivables - net  119,403,227  ₱        128,272,138  ₱       8,868,911 )(₱        (6.9)          

Deposits 133,507,524            139,094,279            (5,586,755)           (4.0)          

Assets 162,230,263            167,991,666            (5,761,403)           (3.4)          

Equity 20,156,211             19,360,492             795,719               4.1            
 
Net loans and other receivables comprised 73.6% and 76.4% of the Bank’s total assets as of June 

2025 and December 2024, respectively, amounting to ₱119.4 billion and ₱128.3 billion at the 

end of each period. Total assets reached ₱162.2 billion as of the first half of 2025. 
 

Deposit liabilities as of June 30, 2025 stood at ₱133.5 billion, lower by 4.0% from ₱139.1 billion 
as of year-end 2024. 
 

Total equity stood at ₱20.2 billion, up by 4.1% versus ₱19.4 billion capital in year-end 2024. Net 

book value per share as of June 30, 2025 was at ₱23.86, up by 4.25% from ₱22.89 in December 
2024. 
 
A. Key Performance Indicators 
 
Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR): A measure of a bank's financial strength, stood at 12.93% by the 
end of the second quarter of 2025, above the 10.00% statutory requirement. 
 
Asset Quality: The Bank’s non-performing loans (NPL) ratio decreased by 21 basis points to 
5.06% as of June 30, 2025 from 5.28% in December 31, 2024. 
 
Profitability: Annualized return on average equity (ROAE) of 10.78% was higher versus 
December 31, 2024. Annualized return on average assets (ROAA) was at 1.29% in the first half 
of 2025. 
 
Liquidity: The Bank’s loans-to-deposit ratio stood at 89.44% as of 2Q2025. 
 
Cost efficiency: Cost-to-income ratio was at 56.89% as of June 2025 from 54.83% in December 
31, 2024. 
 
B. Discussions on Key Variable and Other Qualitative and Quantitative Factors 
 

Vertical and Horizontal Analysis 
 

Financial Condition (June 30, 2025 vs. December 31, 2024) 
 

▪ PBB’s assets reached ₱162.2 billion as of June 30, 2025. This is lower compared to 

December 31, 2024’s figure of ₱168.0 billion. Significant changes (more than 5%) in 
assets were registered in the following accounts: 
 

a. Cash and other cash items decreased by 15.3% or ₱180 million to ₱997 
million as of the second quarter of 2025 
 

b. Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas went up to ₱3.3 billion and Due from 



SEC Form 17-Q  10 

Philippine Business Bank                                                          

other banks increased by 31.3% 
 

c. Loans lowered to ₱119.4 billion as of the second quarter of 2025, down by 
6.9% 

 

d. Investment properties ended at ₱2.6 billion as of June 2025, up 28.4% 
 

e. Other resources grew by 7.6% from ₱2.8 billion as of December 2024 to 

₱3.0 billion in the second quarter of 2025  
 

▪ Total liabilities amounted to ₱142.1 billion as of June 30, 2025 which is lower versus 
audited 2024.  
 

▪ Total equity stood at ₱20.2 billion, up by 4.1% versus ₱19.4 billion capital in year-end 

2024. Net book value per share as of June 30, 2025 was at ₱23.86, up by 4.25% from 

₱22.89 in December 2024. 
 

Results of Operations for the first half ended June 30, 2025 and June 30, 2024 
 

▪ Interest income increased to ₱5,832 million as interest on loans and other receivables 
and investment and trading securities grew by 15.0% and 12.4%, respectively. Interest 

expenses on deposit liabilities rose to ₱1,991.6 million, bringing the total interest expense 

to ₱2,139.0 million in the first half of 2025. As a result, net interest income ended at 

₱3,693.2 million, up 10.3%. 
 

▪ Other income remained flat in the first half of 2025 to ₱440.8 million. 
 

▪ Non-interest expenses stood at ₱2,323.9 million in the first half of 2025 against the 

₱2,082.5 million figure of the same period last year.  
 

▪ PBB experienced an increase in core income in 1H2025 to ₱1,810.0 million from 

₱1,710.0 million.  
 

▪ The Bank set aside a portion of its income for its loan loss provisions for the first six 

months of 2025 amounting to ₱350.0 million, higher than the same period last year. 
 

▪ As a result, net income for the first half of 2025 amounted to ₱1,065.4 million.  
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Significant Elements of Income or Loss 
 
Significant elements of the net income of the Bank for the period ended June 30, 2025 
came from its operations. A significant portion came from the core business of interest 
income on loans and trading gains/losses from the sale of Peso securities. 
 
Known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties 
 
There are no known demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that will have a 
material impact on the Bank’s liquidity within the next twelve (12) months. 
 
Events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation 
 
There are no events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is 
material to the Bank, including any default or acceleration of an obligation. 
 
Material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements or obligations  
 
There are no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including 
contingent obligations), and other relationships of the Bank with unsolicited entities or 
other persons created during the reporting period other than those disclosed in the 
financial statements. 
 
Significant Elements of Income or Loss  
 
Significant elements of the consolidated net income for the six months period ended June 
30, 2025 and 2024 came from its continuing operations. 
 
Seasonal Aspects  
 
There are no seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the Bank’s financial position 
and results of operations. 
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Attachment 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PHILIPPINE BUSINESS BANK, INC. 
As of June 30, 2025 (Unaudited) and December 31, 2024 (Audited) 
And for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 (Unaudited)  
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Notes 2025 2024

CASH AND OTHER CASH ITEMS 9  997,321,948  P                  1,177,794,637  P               

DUE FROM BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS 9  3,319,971,218                    2,881,093,706                   

DUE FROM OTHER BANKS 9, 10  5,328,145,952                    4,056,453,936                   

TRADING AND INVESTMENT SECURITIES – Net 11

At fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)  9,891,446,873                    10,173,768,625                 

At fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)  15,442,169,385                  14,326,399,293                 

At amortized cost - net  1,246,766,499                    1,270,349,150                   

LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES – Net 12  119,403,226,727                128,272,138,050                

BANK PREMISES, FURNITURE, FIXTURES 

AND EQUIPMENT – Net   959,427,874                      982,155,540                      

 

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES – Net   2,602,796,060                    2,027,410,429                   

DEFERRED TAX ASSEETS -Net  1,853,772,966                    1,766,272,966                   

OTHER RESOURCES – Net 13  1,185,217,249                    1,057,829,169                   

TOTAL RESOURCES  162,230,262,751  P            167,991,665,501  P           

DEPOSIT LIABILITIES 14

Demand  46,527,384,911  P              53,996,093,517  P             

Savings  14,156,859,455                  15,048,843,349                 

Time  72,823,281,726                  70,049,342,004                 

Total Deposit Liabilities  133,507,526,092                139,094,278,870                

BILLS PAYABLE 15  3,701,000,000                    4,562,500,000                   

ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES 16  4,865,525,819                    4,974,394,742                   

Total Liabilities  142,074,051,911                 148,631,173,612                

EQUITY 17

Capital stock  8,807,500,940                    8,807,500,940                   

Additional paid-in capital  1,998,396,816                    1,998,396,816                   

Surplus  10,319,692,911                   9,684,114,497                   

Revaluation reserves 969,379,827 )(                     1,129,520,364 )(                   

Total Equity  20,156,210,840                  19,360,491,889                 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  162,230,262,751  P            167,991,665,501  P           

PHILIPPINE BUSINESS BANK, INC., A SAVINGS BANK

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

JUNE 30, 2025 AND DECEMBER 31, 2024

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

R E S O U R C E S

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
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Unaudited Unaudited

For the quarter For the quarter For the six months For the six months 

ended June 30, 2025 ended June 30, 2024  ended June 30, 2025  ended June 30, 2024

INTEREST INCOME

Loans and other receivables  2,553,698,071  P           2,339,261,449  P           5,069,813,089  P           4,512,067,316  P              

Investment and trading securities  343,328,864                  287,188,784                   661,744,348                   575,403,866                     

Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas 

and other banks  100,705,874                   38,378,511                     100,705,874                   96,621,938                       

Others 42,580,203 )(                   -    -    -   

 2,955,152,606                2,664,828,744                5,832,263,311                5,184,093,120                   

INTEREST EXPENSE

Deposit liabilities  997,423,303                  869,986,705                  1,991,561,264                1,697,567,075                  

Bills payable  130,517,870                   71,789,075                    130,517,870                   138,964,549                     

Others  16,962,042                    -    16,962,042                    752                                  

 1,087,612,326                941,775,780                   2,139,041,176                1,836,532,376                  

NET INTEREST INCOME  1,867,540,280                1,723,052,964                3,693,222,135                3,347,560,744                  

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES  175,000,000                   150,000,000                   350,000,000                  200,000,000                     

NET INTEREST INCOME

AFTER IMPAIRMENT LOSSES  1,692,540,280                1,573,052,964                3,343,222,135                3,147,560,744                  

OTHER INCOME

Trading gains - net 62,670,956 )(                  198,389,179 )(                 49,284,439 )(                  127,798,877 )(                    

Service charges, fees and commissions  140,707,346                   193,797,093                   244,307,741                   141,122,284                      

Miscellaneous  78,900,458                    163,718,682                   196,494,444                   303,815,803                     

 156,936,848                   159,126,596                   391,517,746                   317,139,210                      

OTHER EXPENSES

Salaries and other employee benefits  378,598,027                  356,882,914                   774,638,523                  717,908,255                     

Taxes and licenses  289,094,926                  242,099,513                   532,103,791                   498,460,250                     

Occupancy  23,199,350                    127,375,782                   152,196,750                   251,207,578                     

Management and other professional fees  69,681,583                    61,323,085                    145,000,258                   135,804,231                     

Depreciation and amortization  152,192,256                   41,659,364                    205,589,930                  90,293,082                       

Insurance  82,004,932                    81,995,623                    163,284,182                   150,748,321                     

Representation and entertainment  17,296,875                    14,882,939                    39,630,884                    35,110,407                       

Miscellaneous  160,280,944                   103,563,056                   311,489,086                   202,943,817                     

 1,172,348,893                1,029,782,276                2,323,933,404                2,082,475,941                  

PROFIT BEFORE TAX  677,128,235                   702,397,284                  1,410,806,477                1,382,224,013                   

TAX EXPENSE  201,709,159                   181,821,123                   345,364,521                   350,178,523                     

NET PROFIT  475,419,076  P              520,576,161  P              1,065,441,956  P            1,032,045,490  P              

Earnings Per Share 

Basic  0.80  P                          0.76  P                            

Diluted  0.80  P                          0.76  P                            

PHILIPPINE BUSINESS BANK, INC. A SAVINGS BANK

UNAUDITED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

FOR SIX MONTHS PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2025 AND JUNE 30, 2024

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)
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Notes 2025 2024 2023

NET PROFIT  1,065,441,955  P        1,032,045,490  P        869,242,648  P          

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Items that will be reclassified subsequently

to profit or loss  

Fair value losses on investment securities

at FVOCI during the year - net 160,140,536                (225,433,802)              272,171,094                

Expected credit losses on AFS investments 

   -    -    -   

 160,140,536               225,433,802 )(              272,171,094               

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) - Net of Tax  160,140,536               225,433,802 )(              272,171,094               

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  1,225,582,491  P        806,611,688  P           1,141,413,742  P        

PHILIPPINE BUSINESS BANK, INC., A SAVINGS BANK

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

FOR SIX MONTHS PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2025, 2024 AND 2023

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Additional Paid-in Deposit on Future  Value Losses on

Capital Stock Subscription Investment Accumulated Total  

Notes Preferred Stock Common Stock (see Note 17.4)  Appropriated Unappropriated Securities at FVOCI Actuarial Losses Equity

BALANCE AS OF JANUARY 1, 2025  620,000,000  P                 8,187,500,940  P                  1,998,396,816  P                    -    1,005,207,459  P            8,678,907,038  P           1,026,549,237 )(  P          102,971,127 )(  P               19,360,491,889  P          

Translation difference of FCDU undivided    

profits transferred to RBU books (21,826,000)                    (21,826,000)                    

Cash dividend (408,037,542)                  (408,037,542)                  

Total comprehensive income (loss)  -    -    -    -    -   1,065,441,956                  160,140,536                    -    1,225,582,492                

BALANCE AS OF June 30, 2025  620,000,000  P                 8,187,500,940  P                  1,998,396,816  P                    -    1,005,207,459  P            9,314,485,451  P           866,408,701 )(  P             102,971,127 )(  P               20,156,210,839  P          

BALANCE AS OF JANUARY 1, 2024  620,000,000  P                 8,187,500,940  P                  1,998,396,816  P                    -    829,350,345  P               7,480,731,073  P            1,003,581,753 )(  P           97,934,129 )(  P                 18,014,463,292  P          

-                                 

Translation difference of FCDU undivided    -                                 

profits transferred to RBU books 31,651,785                      31,651,785                      

Total comprehensive income (loss)  -    -    -    -    -    1,032,045,490                225,433,802 )(                   -    806,611,688                   

BALANCE AS OF June 30, 2024  620,000,000  P                 8,187,500,940  P                  1,998,396,816  P                    -    829,350,345  P               8,136,390,806  P            1,229,015,555 )(  P           97,934,129 )(  P                 18,444,689,223  P          

BALANCE AS OF JANUARY 1, 2023  620,000,000  P                 6,437,500,940  P                  1,998,396,816  P                    312,500,000  P                       733,615,810  P               6,078,611,161  P            1,536,013,208 )(  P           68,278,930 )(  P                 14,576,332,589  P          

-                                 

Cash dividend on preferred shares (39,600,000)                     (39,600,000)                     

Cumulative foreign currency translation 34,532,141                      (438,600)                         34,093,541                      

Share issurance 1,750,000,000                       (312,500,000)                          1,437,500,000                  

Total comprehensive income (loss)  -    -    -    -    -    869,242,648                    272,171,094                    -    1,141,413,742                

BALANCE AS OF JUNE 30, 2023  620,000,000  P                 8,187,500,940  P                  1,998,396,816  P                    -    733,615,810  P               6,935,660,747  P            1,264,888,050 )(  P           68,278,930 )(  P                 17,142,007,333  P          

PHILIPPINE BUSINESS BANK, INC., A SAVINGS BANK

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR SIX MONTHS PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2025, 2024 AND 2023

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

Capital Stock Surplus

(see Note 17.1) (see Note 17.3) P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P
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Notes 2025 2024 2023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax  1,410,806,475  P        1,382,224,013  P         1,163,543,474  P        

Adjustments for:

Impairment losses   350,000,000               200,000,000                350,000,000               

Depreciation and amortization   205,589,931               90,293,084                 102,748,003               

Foreign currency revaluation of investment securities   61,357,146                144,752,237 )(               23,069,833                

Loss (gain) on sale of properties - net.  6,802,369 )(                  479,504                     15,126,976 )(                

Amortization of premium (discount)   13,656,769                 27,982,762                 16,406,441                

Gain on sale of FVOCI  27,194,564 )(                -    -   

Operating profit before working capital changes  2,007,413,388             1,556,227,126             1,640,640,775            

Decrease (increase) in trading and investment securities at FVPL  282,321,752              891,235,674 )(              1,451,523,440 )(            

Increase in loans and other receivables  7,403,221,323            6,111,696,863 )(            2,107,387,058 )(            

Decrease (Increase) in investment and other properties 568,583,262 )(             152,992,729 )(               17,779,602                

Decrease (increase) in other resources 183,328,923 )(              417,538,561 )(              911,287,262 )(              

Increase (decrease) in deposit liabilities 5,586,752,778 )(           338,240,891 )(              2,221,757,663 )(            

Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses and other liabilities 579,084,736 )(              73,375,723                 1,353,335,115            

Cash generated from (used in) operations  2,775,206,764           6,282,101,869 )(            3,680,199,931 )(            

Cash paid for income taxes 370,686,250 )(             417,770,417 )(              450,157,868 )(              

Net Cash From (Used in) Operating Activities  2,404,520,514            6,699,872,286 )(            4,130,357,799 )(            

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisitions of investment securities at FVOCI  6,061,986,141 )(            -   425,338,902 )(              

Proceeds from sale, redemption, and maturities  of investment securities FVOCI  5,058,586,237            308,610,000                325,000,000               

Acquisitions and maturities of investment securities at amortized cost   23,582,651                49,027,897 )(                 309,702,869               

Acquisitions of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment  182,862,265 )(              109,029,513 )(              115,085,631 )(              

   -    -    -   

Net Cash From (Used in) Investing Activities 1,162,679,518 )(            150,552,590                94,278,336                

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net borrowings (Payments)of bills payable  861,500,000 )(              112,500,000 )(               1,000,000,000            

Payment of cash dividend  -   408,037,542 )(              39,600,000 )(                

Proceeds from share issuance  -    -    1,437,500,000            

Net Cash From (Used in) Financing Activities 861,500,000 )(              520,537,542 )(               2,397,900,000            

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND 

CASH EQUIVALENTS  380,340,996              7,069,857,238 )(            1,638,179,463 )(            

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

Cash and other cash items 9  1,177,794,637             1,316,780,680             1,247,987,230            

Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas 9  2,881,093,706             4,498,604,149             6,102,228,578            

Due from other banks 10  4,056,453,936            4,170,280,397             5,215,663,162            

Interbank call loan receivable  615,690,000               -    -   

Securities under reserve repurchase agreement 12  500,000,000               4,992,596,914             2,394,635,343            

Foreign currency notes and coins on hand 13  82,379,182                 68,818,715                 115,675,334               

 9,313,411,461             15,047,080,855           15,076,189,647          

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT END OF THE YEAR

Cash and other cash items 9  997,321,948               928,955,848                2,652,631,690            

Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas 9  3,319,971,218             4,125,465,715             4,734,106,621            

Due from other banks 10  5,328,145,952             2,623,951,365             5,047,559,186            

Securities under reserve repurchase agreement 12  -    200,000,000                933,061,925               

Foreign currency notes and coins on hand 13  48,313,339                 98,850,689                 70,650,762                

 9,693,752,457            7,977,223,617             13,438,010,184          

PHILIPPINE BUSINESS BANK, INC., A SAVINGS BANK

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR SIX MONTHS PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2025 2024 AND 2023

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

See Notes to Financial Statements.  
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PHILIPPINE BUSINESS BANK, INC., A SAVINGS BANK 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
JUNE 30, 2025 AND DECEMBER 31, 2024 

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos or As Otherwise Indicated) 
 

 
 

1. CORPORATE MATTERS 
 

1.1 Incorporation and Operations 
 

Philippine Business Bank, Inc., A Savings Bank (the Bank or PBB) was incorporated 
in the Philippines on January 28, 1997 to engage in the business of thrift banking.  It 
was authorized to engage in foreign currency deposit operations on August 27, 1997 
and in trust operations on November 13, 2003.  The Bank is a publicly listed entity in 
the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE).  It had its initial public offering (IPO) of shares 
on February 13, 2013(see Note 17). 
 
As a banking institution, the Bank’s operations are regulated and supervised by the  
Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP).  In this regard, the Bank is required to comply with 
rules and regulations of the BSP such as those relating to maintenance of reserve 
requirements on deposit liabilities and those relating to adoption and use of safe and 
sound banking practices, among others, as promulgated by the BSP.  Its activities are 
subject to the provisions of the General Banking Law of 2000 [Republic Act (RA) No. 
8791] and other relevant laws.  
 
PBB is the first savings bank in the Philippines that obtained the BSP approval to 
issue foreign letters of credit and pay/accept/negotiate import/export drafts/bills of 
exchange under RA Nos. 8791 and 7906 and the Manual of Regulations for Banks.  It 
was granted in April 2010. 

 
The Bank operates in the Philippines and, as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 
2024, it has 158 and 158 branches respectively, located nationwide. 

 
The Bank’s registered address, which is also its principal place of business, is at  
350 Rizal Avenue Extension corner 8th Avenue, Grace Park, Caloocan City. 

 
1.2 Approval of the Financial Statements   
 

The financial statements of the Bank as of and for the six months period ended June 
30, 2025 (including the comparative financial statements as of December 31, 2024 and 
for the six months period ended June 30, 2025, 2024 and 2023) were authorized for 
issue by the Bank’s Board of Directors (BOD) on July 16, 2025. 

 
 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
 The following are the significant accounting policies that have been used in the 

preparation of these financial statements.  These policies have been consistently applied 
to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
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2.1 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements 
 

(a) Statement of Compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards  
 
The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS).  PFRS are adopted by the Financial 
Reporting Standards Council (FRSC), from the pronouncements issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board, and approved by the Philippine Board of 
Accountancy. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified 
by PFRS for each type of resource, liability, income and expense.  The measurement 
bases are more fully described in the accounting policies that follow. 
 

(b) Presentation of Financial Statements 
 
The financial statements are presented in accordance with Philippine Accounting 
Standard (PAS) 1, Presentation of Financial Statements.  The Bank presents a statement of 
comprehensive income separate from the statement of profit or loss. 
 
The Bank presents a third statement of financial position as at the beginning of the 
preceding period when it applies an accounting policy retrospectively, or makes a 
retrospective restatement or reclassification of items that has a material effect on the 
information in the statement of financial position at the beginning of the preceding 
period.  The related notes to the third statement of financial position are not required 
to be disclosed. 
 

(c) Functional and Presentation Currency 
 
These financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, the Bank’s functional 
and presentation currency, and all values represent absolute amounts, except when 
otherwise indicated. 
 
Items included in the financial statements of the Bank are measured using its 
functional currency.  Functional currency is the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the Bank operates. The financial statements of the Bank’s 
foreign currency deposit unit (FCDU), which is reported in United States (US) dollar, 
are translated to Philippine peso based on Bankers Association of the Philippine 
(BAP) closing rate prevailing at the end of reporting period for the statement of 
financial position accounts and at BAP weighted average rate for the period for the 
profit and loss. 

 

2.2 Adoption of New and Amended PFRS  
 

(a) Effective in 2024 that are Relevant to the Bank 
 
The Bank adopted for the first time the following amendments to existing standards, 
which are mandatorily effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2024: 
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  PAS 1 (Amendments) :  Presentation of Financial Statements – 
 Classification of Liabilities as Current or 

       Non-current, and Non-current liabilities with 
       Covenants 
 

  PAS 7 and PFRS 7 : (Amendments):Statement of Cash Flow, and 
Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Supplier 
Finance Arrangements 

 
  PFRS 16 (Amendments) : Leases – Lease Liability in a Sale and  
     Leaseback 

   
2.3 Financial Instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the entity becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument.  Regular purchases and sales of financial 
assets are recognized on their settlement date (i.e., the date that the Bank commits to 
purchase or sell the asset). 
 
(a) Financial Assets 

 
(i) Classification, Measurement and Reclassification of Financial Assets  

 
The classification and measurement of financial assets are described as follows. 

 

Financial Assets at Amortized Cost 
 
Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows,  
the Bank assesses whether the financial instruments’ cash flows represent 
amount that are solely payment of principal and interest (SPPI).  In making this 
assessment, the Bank considers whether the contractual cash flows are 
consistent with a basic lending arrangement, i.e., interest includes only 
consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks 
and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement [see 
Note 3.1(b)].  Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or 
volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related 
financial asset is classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL). The Bank’s financial assets at amortized cost are presented in the 
statement of financial position as Cash and Other Cash Items, Due from BSP, 
Due from Other Banks, Investment Securities at Amortized Cost, Loans and 
Other Receivables and Other Resources in respect of security deposits, and 
foreign currency notes and coins on hand which are included in the account. 
 
For purposes of cash flows reporting and presentation, cash and cash 
equivalents include cash and other cash items, due from BSP and other banks, 
foreign currency notes and coins on hand and securities under reverse 
repurchase agreement (SPURRA) with maturities of three months or less from 
placement date. 
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Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) 
 
At initial recognition, the Bank can make an irrevocable election (on an 
instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate equity investments as at FVOCI; 
however, such designation is not permitted if the equity investment is held by 
the Bank for trading or as mandatorily required to be classified as FVTPL. The 
Bank has not made irrevocable designation of equity instruments as of  
June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024. 
  
Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (FVTPL) 
 
Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than  
“hold to collect” or “hold to collect and sell” are categorized at FVTPL.  
Further, irrespective of business model, financial assets whose contractual cash 
flows are not SPPI are accounted for at FVTPL.  The Bank’s financial assets at 
FVTPL include debt securities which are held for trading purposes or 
designated as at FVTPL. 
 
The fair values of these financial assets are determined by reference to active 
market transactions or using a valuation technique where no active market 
exists. 
 
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety 
when determining whether their cash flows are SPPI.  
 

(ii) Effective Interest Rate Method and Interest Income 
 

Interest income on financial assets measured at amortized cost and all  
interest-bearing debt financial assets classified as at FVTPL, or at FVOCI, is 
recognized using the effective interest rate method.  The effective interest rate 
is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition, 
fees and costs that are an integral part of an effective interest rate.  The Bank 
recognizes interest income using a rate of return that represents the best 
estimate of a constant rate of return over the expected life of the instrument; 
hence, it recognizes the effect of potentially different interest rates charged at 
various stages, and other characteristics of the product life cycle (including 
prepayments, penalty interest and charges). 
 
If expectations regarding the cash flows on the financial asset are revised for 
reasons other than credit risk, the adjustment is booked as a positive or 
negative adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset with an increase or 
reduction in interest income.  The Bank calculates interest income by applying 
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial assets, 
except for those that are subsequently identified as credit-impaired and or are 
purchased or originated credit-impaired assets.   
 
For financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate  
to the net carrying amount of the financial assets (after deduction of the loss 
allowance).  If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, the calculation of interest 
income reverts to gross basis.  For financial assets that were credit-impaired on 
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initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying a credit-adjusted 
effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the asset.  The calculation of 
interest income does not revert to a gross basis even if the credit risk of the 
asset subsequently improves. 

 
(iii) Impairment of Financial Assets  

 
The Bank assesses its expected credit loss (ECL) on a forward-looking basis 
associated with its financial assets carried at amortized cost and debt 
instruments measured at FVOCI and other contingent accounts.  The Bank 
considers a broader range of information in assessing credit risk and measuring 
expected credit losses, including past events, current conditions, reasonable and 
supportable forecasts that affect collectability of the future cash flows of the 
financial assets. 
 
The Bank measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except 
for the following financial instruments which are measured as 12-month ECL: 
 

• all current loan accounts, except restructured loans; 

• debt securities that are identified to have ‘low credit risk’ at the reporting 
date; and, 

• other financial instruments on which credit risk has not increased 
significantly since their initial recognition.   
 

For these financial instruments, the allowance for credit losses is based on  
12-month ECL associated with the probability of default of a financial 
instrument in the next 12 months (referred to as ‘Stage 1’ financial 
instruments).  Should there be a significant increase in credit risk subsequent to 
the initial recognition of the financial asset, a lifetime ECL (which are the 
expected shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering the potential for 
default at any point during the life of the financial asset) will be recognized 
(referred to as ‘Stage 2’ financial instruments).  
 
‘Stage 2’ financial instruments also include the following characteristics: 

 

• performing accounts but with occurrence of loss event; 

• accounts with missed payments but not yet classified as defaulted; 

• current restructured loans; and,  

• current loans that are rated as Especially Mentioned based on the Internal 
Credit Risk Rating System (ICRRS) of the Bank. 

 
A lifetime ECL shall be recognized for ‘Stage 3’ financial instruments, which  
include financial assets considered as credit-impaired, purchased or originated 
credit-impaired assets, and those classified as Past Due, and Items in Litigation 
based on the ECL methodology of the Bank. 
 
The Bank’s definition of credit risk and information on how credit risk is 
mitigated by the Bank are disclosed in Note 4.3. 
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Measurement of ECL 
 
The Bank calculates ECL either on an individual or a collective basis.  For 
modelling ECL parameters which were carried out on a collective basis, the 
financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared credit risk 
characteristics, such as but not limited to instrument type, credit risk rating, 
collateral type, product type, historical net charge-offs, industry type, and 
geographical locations of the borrowers or counterparties. 
 
The Bank applies a simplified ECL approach for its loans and other receivables 
wherein the Bank uses a provision matrix that considers historical changes in 
the behavior of the portfolio of credit exposures based on internally collected 
data to predict conditions over the span of a given observation period.  These 
receivables include claims from various counterparties, which do not originate 
through the Bank’s lending activities.  For these instruments, the Bank 
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. 
 
Where a financial instrument includes a drawn and undrawn component, and 
the Bank cannot identify the ECL on the loan commitment component 
separately  
from those on the drawn commitment; the Bank presents a combined ECL for 
both components.  The combined amount is presented as a deduction from the 
gross carrying amount of the drawn component.  Any excess of the loss 
allowance over the gross amount of the drawn component is presented as 
provisions. 
 

(iv) Derecognition of Financial Assets – Modification of Loans 
 
When the Bank renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual cash flows of 
loans to customers, the Bank assesses whether or not the new terms are 
substantially different to the original terms.  The Bank considers, among others: 
 

• if the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely 
reduces the contractual cash flows to amounts the borrower is expected 
to be able to pay;  

• whether any substantial new terms are introduced that will affect the risk 
profile of the loan;  

• significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in 
financial difficulty;  

• significant change in the interest rate;  

• change in the currency the loan is denominated in; and/or, 

• insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that will 
significantly affect the credit risk associated with the loan. 
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If the terms are substantially different, the Bank derecognizes the financial asset 
and recognizes a “new” asset at fair value and recalculates a new effective 
interest rate for the asset.  The date of renegotiation is consequently considered 
to be the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation, including for the 
purpose of determining whether a significant increase in credit risk has 
occurred.  However, the Bank also assesses whether the new financial asset 
recognized is deemed to be credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially in 
circumstances where the renegotiation was driven by the debtor being unable 
to make the originally agreed payments.  Differences in the carrying amount are 
recognized in profit or loss as either gain or loss on derecognition of financial 
assets.   
 
As to the impact on ECL measurement, the expected fair value of the “new”  
asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the date 
of derecognition.  Such amount is included in the calculation of cash shortfalls 
from the existing financial asset that are discounted from the expected date of 
derecognition to the reporting date using the original effective interest rate of 
the existing financial asset. 
 
If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification 
does not result in derecognition, and the Bank recalculates the gross carrying 
amount based on the revised cash flows of the financial asset and recognizes a 
modification gain or loss in profit or loss.   
 

(b) Financial Liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities include deposit liabilities, bills payable, corporate notes payable and 
accrued expenses and other liabilities (excluding tax-related payables and post-
employment benefit obligation). 

 
2.4 Derivative Financial Instruments 
 

The Bank uses derivative financial instruments, particularly plain vanilla foreign 
exchange forwards, to manage its risks associated with fluctuations in foreign 
currency.  Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value 
on the date on which the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured at fair value.  Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is 
positive (recognized as part of Investment securities at FVTPL under the Trading 
and Investment Securities account) and as liabilities (recognized under the Accrued 
Expenses and Other Liabilities account) when the fair value is negative. 
 
The Bank’s derivative instruments provide economic hedges under the Bank’s 
policies but are not designated as accounting hedges.   

 
2.5 Bank Premises, Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment 
 

Land is stated at cost less impairment losses, if any.  Bank premises, furniture, 
fixtures and equipment are carried at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation 
and amortization and any impairment losses.  
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Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 
the assets as follows: 

   
  Building     50 years 
  Furniture, fixtures and equipment         5 to 7 years 
  Transportation equipment   5 years 

 
Leasehold improvements are amortized using the estimated useful lives of six months to  
13 years or the remaining term of the lease whichever is shorter.   
 
2.6 Investment Properties 
 
Investment properties pertain to land, buildings or condominium units acquired by the 
Bank, in settlement of loans from defaulting borrowers through foreclosure or dacion in 
payment.  These properties are neither held by the Bank for sale in the next 12 months nor 
used in the rendering of services or for administrative purposes. 
 
Investment properties are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation, and any 
impairment losses (see Note 2.12).   
 
Investment properties, except land, are depreciated over a period of five to 10 years.  
Depreciation and impairment loss are recognized in the same manner as in bank premises, 
furniture, fixtures and equipment (see Note 2.5). 
 
2.7 Intangible Assets 
 
Intangible assets include goodwill, branch licenses, club shares and computer software, 
which are included as part of Other Resources and are accounted for under the cost model.  
The cost of the asset is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the 
other considerations given to acquire an asset at the time of its acquisition.   
 
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the net 
assets and branch licenses acquired at the date of acquisition.  Branch licenses represent the 
rights given by the BSP to the Bank to establish a certain number of branches in various 
areas in the country.   
 
Goodwill, branch licenses and club shares are classified as intangible assets with  
indefinite useful life, and thus, not subject to amortization but to an annual test for  
impairment (see Note 2.12).  For purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to  
cash-generating units and is subsequently carried at cost less any allowance for impairment 
losses while branch licenses are tested for impairment individually based on recoverable 
amount (see Notes 13.1 and 13.2).  For club shares, impairment loss is recognized when 
the fair value of the shares as of the reporting period is lower than the carrying amount. 
 
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to 
acquire and install the specific software.  Capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives of five years.  In addition, intangible assets are subject 
to impairment testing when indications exist, as described in Note 2.12.  Costs associated 
with maintaining computer software and those costs associated with research activities are 
recognized as expense in profit or loss as incurred. 
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2.8 Other Acquired Assets 
 
Other acquired assets pertain to chattel properties acquired through repossession or dacion 
in payment from defaulting borrowers.  These are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment in value.  Depreciation of other acquired assets is 
computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of three years.  The carrying 
value of other acquired assets is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (see Note 2.12). 

 
2.9 Deposits on Future Stock Subscriptions 
 
Deposits on future stock subscription represent the amount of money received from the 
principal shareholders as deposits on the subscriptions relative to the Bank’s application  
for increase in Authorized Capital Stock (ACS).  Based on the requirements of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the Bank recognizes deposits for future stock 
subscriptions as part of equity if all of the following criteria are met as at the end of the 
reporting period:  
 
(a) lack or insufficiency of authorized unissued shares of stock to cover for the deposit;  

 
(b) approval by the Bank’s Board of Directors (BOD) and stockholders for the increase 

in ACS to cover the shares corresponding to the amount of the deposit; and,  
 
(c) application for the approval of the increase in ACS has been filed with the SEC.  
 
If any of the foregoing criteria is not met at the end of the reporting period, the deposit for 
future stock subscription is recognized as a liability. 

 
2.10 Other Income and Expense Recognition 
 
A contract with a customer that results in a recognized financial instrument in the Bank’s 
financial statements may be partially within the scope of PFRS 9 and partially within the 
scope of PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers.  In such a case, the Bank applies 
PFRS 9 first to separate and measure the part of the contract that is covered by PFRS 9, 
and then applies PFRS 15 to the residual part of the contract.  Expenses and costs, if any, 
are recognized in profit or loss upon utilization of the assets or services or at the date these 
are incurred.  All finance costs are reported in profit or loss on accrual basis. 
 
The Bank assesses its revenue arrangements against specific criteria to determine if it is 
acting as a principal or agent.  The Bank concluded that it is acting as a principal in all its 
revenue arrangements. 
 
For other income arising from these various banking services, which are to be accounted 
for under PFRS 15, the following provides information about the nature and timing of 
satisfaction of performance obligations in contracts with customers, including significant 
payment terms, and the related revenue recognition policies: 
 
a. Service charges, fees, and commissions – Service charges, fees and commissions are 

generally recognized when the service has been provided or after fulfilling the 
corresponding criteria.  These include the commissions, deposit-related fees and 
other credit-related fees. 
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b. Asset management services – The Bank provides asset management services, which 

include trust and fiduciary activities.  Related fees are recognized in profit or loss as 
follows: 
 
(i) Asset management and trust fees – These are service fees calculated based on a fixed 

percentage of the value of assets managed and deducted from the customer’s 

account balance on the scheduled collection date.  Revenue from asset 

management services is recognized over time as the services are provided.   

(ii) Non-refundable upfront fees – These are charged to customers when opening 

certain types of trust account with the Bank.  These fees give rise to material 

rights for future services and are recognized as revenue over the period for 

which a customer is expected to continue receiving asset management services. 

For other income outside the scope of PFRS 15, the following provides information about 
the nature and the related revenue recognition policies: 
 
a. Trading and securities gains (losses) – These are recognized when the ownership of the 

securities is transferred to the buyer and is computed as the difference between the 
selling price and the carrying amount of the securities disposed of.  These also 
include trading gains and losses as a result of the mark-to-market valuation of 
investment securities classified as FVTPL. 
 

b. Gain or loss from assets sold or exchanged – Income or loss from assets sold or exchanged 
is recognized when the title to the properties is transferred to the buyer or when the 
collectability of the entire sales price is reasonably assured.  This is included in profit 
or loss as part of Miscellaneous Income or Miscellaneous Expenses in the statement 
of profit or loss. 
 

c. Recovery on charged-off assets – Income arising from collections on accounts or 
recoveries from impairment of items previously written off are recognized in the year 
of recovery.  This is included in the statement profit or loss as part of Miscellaneous 
Income.   

 
2.11 Leases – Bank as a Lessee 
 
Subsequent to the initial recognition, the Bank amortizes the right-of-use asset on a 
straight-line basis from the lease commencement date over the useful life of the right-of-
use asset or the term of the lease, whichever is shorter.  The Bank also assesses the right-
of-use asset for impairment when such indicators exist (see Note 2.12). 
 
The Bank has elected to account for any short-term leases (less than 12 months) using the 
practical expedients.  Instead of recognizing a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the lease 
payments in relation to these are recognized as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. 
 
The corresponding right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are presented as part of Bank 
Premises, Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment, and Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities, 
respectively, in the statements of financial position. 
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2.12 Impairment of Non-financial Assets 
 
The Bank’s premises, furniture, fixtures, and equipment (including right-of-use assets), 
investment properties, and other resources (including branch licenses goodwill, club shares, 
computer software and other acquired assets) and other non-financial assets are subject to 
impairment testing.   
 
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life, such as goodwill and branch licenses or 
those not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually.  All other 
individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
 
2.13 Employee Benefits 
 
The Bank provides post-employment benefits to employees through a defined benefit plan 
and defined contribution plan, and other employee benefits. 
 
The Bank’s defined benefit post-employment plan covers all regular full-time employees.  
The post-employment plan is tax-qualified, non-contributory, and administered by a 
trustee.  The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries 
using the projected unit credit method.   
 
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment plan under which the Bank pays fixed 
contributions into an independent entity (e.g., Social Security System and PhilHealth).  The 
Bank has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions after payment of 
the fixed contribution.   
 
Short-term employee benefits include salaries, wages, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits 
provided to current employees, which are expected to be settled before twelve months 
after the end of the reporting period during which an employee services are rendered but 
does not include termination benefits.  
  
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Bank before the 
normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in 
exchange for these benefits.   
 
The Bank recognizes a liability and an expense for employee bonuses, based on a formula  
that is fixed regardless of the Bank’s income after certain adjustments and does not take 
into consideration the profit attributable to the Bank’s shareholders.  The Bank recognizes 
a provision where it is contractually obliged to pay the benefits, or where there is a past 
practice that has created a constructive obligation. 
 
Compensated absences are recognized for the number of paid leave days (including holiday 
entitlement) remaining at the end of the reporting period.  They are included in the 
Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities account in the statements of financial position at 
the undiscounted amount that the Bank expects to pay as a result of the unused 
entitlement. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES 
 
The preparation of the Bank’s financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires 
management to make judgments and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the 
financial statements and related notes.  Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated 
and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual results may 
ultimately differ from these estimates.  Unless specifically indicated to apply to either year, 
the policies that follow apply to both years. 
 

3.1 Critical Management Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies 
 
In the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies, management has made the 
judgments presented in the succeeding page, apart from those involving estimation, which 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements. 
 
(a) Application of ECL to Financial Assets at FVOCI and Amortized Cost 

 
The Bank uses external benchmarking and historical loss rates to calculate ECL for 
all debt instruments carried at FVOCI and amortized cost as well as loan 
commitments, if any.  The allowance for impairment is based on the ECLs associated 
with the Probability of Default (PD) of a financial instrument in the next 12 months, 
unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination of the 
financial instrument, in such case, a lifetime ECL for the instrument is recognized.  
This is where significant management judgment is required. 
 
The Bank has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each 
reporting period, whether a financial instrument’s credit risk has significantly 
increased since initial recognition, by considering the change in the risk of default 
occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument (see Note 4.3). 
 

(b) Evaluation of Business Model Applied and Testing the Cash Flow Characteristics of Financial 
Assets in Managing Financial Instruments  
 
The Bank manages its financial assets based on business models that maintain 
adequate level of financial assets to match its expected cash outflows, largely its core 
deposit funding arising from customers’ withdrawals and continuing loan 
disbursements to borrowers, while maintaining a strategic portfolio of financial assets 
for trading activities consistent with its risk appetite. 
 
The Bank developed business models which reflect how it manages its portfolio of 
financial instruments.  These business models need not be assessed at entity level or  
as a whole but shall be applied at the level of a portfolio of financial instruments  
(i.e., group of financial instruments that are managed together by the Bank) and  
not on an instrument-by-instrument basis (i.e., not based on intention or specific 
characteristics of individual financial instrument). 
 
In determining the classification of a financial instrument, the Bank evaluates in 
which business model a financial instrument, or a portfolio of financial instruments 
belong to taking into consideration the objectives of each business model established 
by the Bank (e.g., held-for-trading, generating accrual income, direct matching to a 
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specific liability) as those relate to the Bank’s investment, trading, and lending 
strategies.  Furthermore, the Bank assesses whether the contractual terms of the 
financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal outstanding, with interest representing time 
value of money and credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding.   
 
The assessment as to whether the cash flows meet the test is made in the currency in 
which the financial asset is denominated.  Any other contractual term that changes 
the timing or amount of cash flows (unless it is a variable interest rate that represents 
time value of money and credit risk) does not meet the amortized cost criteria.  In 
cases where the relationship between the passage of time and the interest rate of the 
financial instrument may be imperfect, known as modified time value of money, the 
Bank assesses the modified time value of money feature to determine whether the 
financial instrument still meets the SPPI criterion.   
 
The objective of the assessment is to determine how different the undiscounted 
contractual cash flows could be from the undiscounted cash flows that would arise if 
the time value of money element was not modified (the benchmark cash flows).  If 
the resulting difference is significant, the SPPI criterion is not met.  In view of this, 
the Bank considers the effect of the modified time value of money element in each 
reporting period and cumulatively over the life of the financial instrument.   
 
If more than an infrequent sale is made out of a portfolio of financial assets carried at 
amortized cost, the Bank assesses whether and how such sales are consistent with the 
objective of collecting contractual cash flows.  In making this judgment, it considers 
certain circumstances documented in its business model manual to assess that an 
increase in the frequency or value of sales of financial instruments in a particular 
period is not necessarily inconsistent with a held-to-collect business model if the 
Bank can explain the reasons for those sales and why those sales do not reflect a 
change in the Bank’s investment objective for the business model. 
 

(c) Distinction Between Investment Properties or Other Acquired Assets and Owner-occupied Properties 
 
The Bank determines whether a property qualifies as investment property.  In 
making this judgment, the Bank considers whether the property generates cash flows 
largely independent of the other assets held by an entity.  Owner-occupied properties 
generate cash flows that are attributable not only to properties but also to other 
assets used in the production or supply process. 
 
The Bank classifies its acquired properties (foreclosed properties) as Bank Premises, 
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment if used in operations, as other acquired assets 
presented under Other Resources, if the Bank expects that the properties, which are  
other than land and building, will be recovered through sale rather than use, and as 
Investment Properties if the Bank intends to hold the properties, which could be 
land and/or building, to earn rental or for capital appreciation. 

 
Judgment is applied in determining whether ancillary services are so significant that a 
property does not qualify as investment property.  The Bank considers each property 
separately in making its judgment. 
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(d) Determination of Branch Licenses Having Indefinite Useful Lives 
 
The Bank’s branch licenses were regarded as having an indefinite useful life 
considering there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which such assets are 
expected to generate net cash inflows for the Bank.  The assessment of having 
indefinite useful lives is reviewed periodically and is updated whether events and 
circumstances such as the period of control over these assets and legal or similar limits 
on the use of these assets continue to support such assessment.   
 

(e) Determination of Lease Term 
 
In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances  
that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise  
a termination option.  Extension options (or periods after termination options) are  
only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended  
(or not terminated).   
 
The Bank did not include renewal options as part of the lease term of as the terms 
are renewable upon mutual agreement. The lease term is reassessed if an option is 
actually exercised or not exercised, or the Bank becomes obliged to exercise or not 
exercise it.  The assessment of reasonable certainty is only revised if a significant 
event or a significant change in circumstances occurs, which affects this assessment, 
and that is within the control of the Bank. 
 

(f) Recognition of Provisions and Contingencies 
 
Provisions are recognized when present obligations will probably lead to an outflow 
of economic resources, and they can be estimated reliably even if the timing or 
amount of the outflow may still be uncertain.  Similarly, possible outflows of 
economic benefits to the Bank that do not meet the recognition criteria of a liability 
are considered contingent liabilities, hence, are not recognized in the financial 
statements.  
 
Judgment is exercised by management to distinguish the difference between 
provisions and contingencies.   
 
In dealing with the Bank’s various legal proceedings, its estimate of the probable 
costs that may arise from claims and contingencies has been developed in 
consultation and coordination with the Bank’s internal and outside counsels acting in 
defence for the Bank’s legal cases and are based upon the analysis of probable results.   
 
Although the Bank does not believe that its dealing on these proceedings will have 
material adverse effect on the Bank’s financial position, it is possible that future 
results of operations could be materially affected by changes in the estimates or in the 
effectiveness of the strategies conducted relating to those proceedings. 
 

3.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
 

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources 
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
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within the next reporting period: 
 
(a) Estimation of Allowance for ECL  

 
The measurement of the allowance for ECL on debt financial assets at amortized 
cost and at FVOCI is an area that requires the use of significant assumptions about 
the future economic conditions and credit behavior (e.g., likelihood of customers 
defaulting and the resulting losses).  Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and 
estimation used in measuring ECL is further detailed in Note 4.3. 
 
The carrying value of investments in debt securities at amortized cost and at FVOCI, 
and loans and other receivables together with the analysis of the allowance for 
impairment on such financial assets, are shown in Notes 11 and 12, respectively. 
 

(b) Fair Value Measurement for Financial Assets at FVTPL and at FVOCI  
 
The Bank carries certain financial assets at fair value which requires judgment and 
extensive use of accounting estimates.  In cases when active market quotes are not 
available, fair value is determined by reference to the current market value of another 
financial instrument which is substantially the same or is calculated based on the 
expected cash flows of the underlying net base of the instrument or other more 
appropriated valuation techniques (see Note 7.2).   
 
The amount of changes in fair value would differ if the Bank had utilized different 
valuation methods and assumptions.  Any change in the fair value of the financial 
assets and financial liabilities would affect profit or loss or other comprehensive 
income.   
 
The fair value of derivative financial instruments that are not quoted in an active 
market is determined through valuation techniques using the net present value 
computation (see Note 7.2). 
 
The carrying values of the Bank’s trading and investment securities and the amounts 
of fair value changes recognized on those financial assets are disclosed in Note 11. 
 

(c) Estimation of Useful Lives of Bank Premises, Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment, Right-of-use 
Assets, Investment Properties, Computer Software, Club Shares, Other Acquired Assets, 
Goodwill, and Branch Licenses 
 
The Bank estimates the useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and 
equipment, right-of-use assets, investment properties, computer software, club shares 
and other acquired assets based on the period over which the assets are expected to 
be available for use.  The estimated useful lives of these assets are reviewed 
periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to 
physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits 
on the use of the assets. 
 
The Bank’s goodwill, branch licenses and club shares are regarded as having an 
indefinite useful life considering there is no foreseeable limit to the period over 
which such assets are expected to generate net cash inflows for the Bank.  The 
assessment of having indefinite useful lives is reviewed periodically and is updated 
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whether events and circumstances such as the period of control over these assets and 
legal or similar limits on the use of these assets continue to support such assessment.   
 
The carrying amounts of goodwill and branch licenses are analyzed in Note 13.  
Based on management’s assessment as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, 
there are no changes in the useful lives of these assets.   
 
Actual results, however, may vary due to changes in estimates brought about by 
changes in the factors mentioned above. 
 

(d) Determination of Timing of Satisfaction of Performance Obligation 
 
The Bank determines that its revenues from services for loan administration and 
account management shall be recognized over time while all other revenue streams 
are recognized at point in time.  In making its judgment, the Bank considers the 
timing of receipt and consumption of benefits provided to the customers.  As the 
work is performed, the Bank becomes entitled to payments.  This demonstrates that 
the customers simultaneously receive and consume the benefits of rendering of these 
retail and corporate banking services as it performs. 
 
In determining the best method of measuring the progress of the Bank’s rendering of 
aforementioned services, the management considers the output method, which uses 
direct measurements of the value to the customer of the services transferred to date 
relative to the remaining services promised as basis in recognizing revenues.  Such 
measurements include results of performance completed to date and time elapsed. 
 

(e) Determination of Realizable Amount of Deferred Tax Assets 
 
The Bank reviews its deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting period and 
reduces the carrying amount to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 
utilized.  The carrying value of deferred tax was assessed by management to be fully 
recoverable, as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024.  
 

(f) Determination of Fair Value of Investment Properties  
 
The Bank’s investment properties are composed of parcels of land, buildings, 
condominium units and improvements, which are held for capital appreciation and 
are measured using the cost model.  The estimated fair value of investment 
properties disclosed in Note 7.4 is determined based on the appraisals conducted by 
professional appraisers applying the relevant valuation methodologies as discussed 
therein.  
 
At initial recognition, the Bank determines the fair value of the acquired properties 
based on valuations performed by both internal and external appraisers.  The 
appraised value is determined based on the current economic and market conditions 
as well as the physical condition of the property.  For investment properties with 
appraisal conducted prior to the end of the current reporting period, management 
determines whether there are significant circumstances during the intervening period 
that may require adjustments or changes in the disclosure of fair value of those 
properties.  A significant change in key inputs and sources of information used in the 
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determination of the fair value disclosed for those assets may result in adjustment in 
the carrying amount of the assets reported in the financial statements if their fair 
value will indicate evidence of impairment. 
 
The Bank’s methodology in determining the fair value of acquired properties is 
further discussed in Note 7. 
 

(g) Impairment of Non-financial Assets 
 
Except for intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (i.e. goodwill and branch 
licenses), which are annually tested for impairment, PFRS requires that an impairment 
review be performed when certain impairment indications are present.  The Bank’s 
policy on estimating the impairment of non-financial assets is discussed in detail in 
Note 2.12.  Though management believes that the assumptions used in the estimation 
of fair values reflected in the financial statements are appropriate and reasonable, 
significant changes in these assumptions may materially affect the assessment of 
recoverable values and any resulting impairment loss could have a material adverse 
effect on the results of operations. 
 
 

(h) Determination of Appropriate Discount Rate in Measuring Lease Liabilities 
 
The Bank measures its lease liabilities at the present value of the lease payments that 
are not paid at the commencement date of the lease contract.  The lease payments 
were discounted using a reasonable rate deemed by management equal to the Bank’s 
incremental borrowing rate.  In determining a reasonable discount rate, management 
considers the term of the leases, the underlying asset and the economic environment.   
 
Actual results, however, may vary due to changes in estimates brought about by 
changes in such factors. 
 

(i) Valuation of Post-employment Benefits   
 
The determination of the Bank’s obligation and cost of post-employment benefit 
plan is dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used by actuaries in 
calculating such amounts.  A significant change in any of these actuarial assumptions 
may generally affect the recognized expense and the carrying amount of the post-
employment benefit obligation in the next reporting period.  

 
 
4. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

 
The Bank’s activities are exposed to credit, market and liquidity, and operational risks.  
Credit risk emanates from exposures to borrowing customers, counterparty risk in trading 
activities, and contingent credit risks arising from trade finance exposures.  Market risk 
covers price, liquidity, and interest rate risks in the Bank’s investment portfolio.  Liquidity 
risk may arise from shortage in funding and/or lack of market for sale of its assets.  
Operational risk covers potential losses other than market and credit risk arising from 
failures of people, process, systems, information technology and external events. 
 
The ability to manage risks effectively is vital for the Bank to sustain its growth and 
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continue to create value for its shareholders. 
 
4.1 Risk Management 
 
The Bank continually advances its risk management techniques and integrates this into the 
overall strategic business objectives to support the growth objectives of the Bank. 
 
The Bank has automated the front office, back office, and middle office operations as far  
as market risk is concerned.  This includes the integration of pre-deal limit checking,  
on-demand position monitoring, automated limit reporting and breach approval, and 
automated value-at-risk (VaR) calculations.  In addition to the automation, the Bank  
continues to review its limits system to ensure that it only enters into transactions allowed 
under its existing policies and that adequate capital is available to cover market risk 
exposures. 
 
On the credit side, the Bank safeguards its financial health by diligently assessing and 
managing the risks associated with lending. It involves evaluation of borrower 
creditworthiness by conducting thorough analyses of financial statements, historical 
performance, and other pertinent information to gauge the likelihood of repayment with 
each loan application and renewal. It also monitors borrower performance throughout the 
lifecycle of each loan by promptly identifying any signs of financial distress by 
implementing the automated credit risk downgrading. Additionally, it oversees the broader 
risk profile of the bank's loan portfolio by collaborating with colleagues across various 
departments to develop and refine credit policies and procedures in alignment with 
regulatory requirements and industry standards. Regular stress testing is also conducted to 
assess the portfolio's resilience under different economic conditions.  
 
The allowance for credit losses, a significant component of the Bank's financial 
provisioning, is calculated using complex models and procedures that forecast the 
projected credit losses in the loan portfolio. This entails studying historical data, economic 
indicators, and other pertinent elements to anticipate potential impairments. Senior 
management and regulatory authorities receive regular reports and updates, which provide 
transparency into the Bank's credit risk exposure and performance. 
 
The Bank has completed the bank-wide operational risk and control self-assessment in  
support of the enterprise risk management framework and has continued to use other 
operational risk management tools such as loss events monitoring and key risk indicators.   
 
There is also an enterprise-wide training on risk awareness to ensure appreciation of the 
risk management objectives of the Bank, and how these relate to the overall objective and 
strategies of the Bank, resulting to appropriate identification and measurement of the key 
risks of all business and support units.  Policies on business continuity and information 
security were further strengthened, strictly implemented, and continuously disseminated 
across all units of the Bank. 

 

4.2 Enterprise Risk Management Framework 
 
The Bank adopts an Enterprise Risk Management framework as its integrated approach to  
the identification, measurement, control, and disclosure of risks, subject to prudent limits 
and stringent controls as established in its risk management framework and governance 
structure.  The Bank has an integrated process of planning, organizing, leading, and 
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controlling its activities to minimize the effects of risk on its capital and earnings.  The 
Bank’s BOD formulates the corporate risk policy, sets risk tolerances and appetite, and 
provide risk oversight function through the Risk Oversight Committee (ROC), which in 
turn supervises the Chief Risk Officer and Head of the Enterprise Risk Management Group 
(ERMG) in the development and implementation of risk policies, processes, and guidelines.  
The framework covers operational, market and liquidity, credit and counterparty, and other 
downside risks within the context of the supervisory risk guidelines of the BSP and aligned 
best practices on risk management. 

 
4.3 Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk pertains to the risk to income or capital due to failure by borrowers or 
counterparties to pay their obligations, either in full or partially as they fall due, deterioration 
in the credit quality of a borrower, issuer or counterparty, and the reduced recovery from a 
credit facility in the event of default.  This is inherent in the Bank’s lending, investing, and 
trading and is managed in accordance with the Bank’s credit risk framework of risk 
identification, measurement, control, and monitoring. 
 
Credit risk is managed through a continuing review of credit policies, systems, and 
procedures.  It starts with the definition of business goals and setting of risk policies by the 
BOD.  Account officers and credit officers directly handle credit risk as guided by policies 
and limits approved by the BOD.  ERMG, as guided by the ROC, performs an 
independent portfolio oversight of credit risks, and reports regularly to the BOD and the 
ROC. 
 
On the transactional level, exposure to credit risk is managed through a credit review 
process wherein a regular analysis of the ability of the obligors and potential obligors to 
meet interest and capital repayment obligations is performed.  Exposure to credit risk is 
also managed in part by obtaining collateral and corporate and personal guarantees.  
Moreover, in accordance with best practices, the Bank also adopts ICRRS for the purpose 
of measuring credit risk for every exposure in a consistent manner as accurately as possible 
and uses this information as a tool for business and financial decision-making.   
 
Management considers the following changes to adopted ECL methodology: 
 

▪ changes in loss given default (LGD) rates through consideration of cost to sell and 
change in haircut according to collateral types, and recalibration of recovery rates 
to reflect average LGD among current and performing loans only; 

▪ changes to past due (PD) rates to incorporate enhancements for max bucketing, 
seasonality, final staging and overrides;   

▪ changes in exposure at default (EAD) to reflect the impact of full subsequent 
collections with allocation to general loan loss provision (GLLP); and, 

▪ specific provisioning policy to identify significant credit exposures that warrant 
individual assessments for loan loss provisioning. 
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4.4 Market Risk 
 
The Bank’s market risk exposure arises from adverse movements in interest rates and 
prices  
of assets that are either carried in the banking book or held as positions in the trading book 
(financial instruments), mismatches in the contractual maturity of its resources and 
liabilities, embedded optionality in the loans and deposits due to pre-terminations, and 
potential cash run offs arising from changes in the overall liquidity and funding conditions 
in the market.   
 
Market risk related to the Bank’s financial instruments includes foreign currency, interest rate 
and price risks. 
 
(a) Foreign Currency Risk 
 

The Bank manages its exposure to effects of fluctuations in the foreign currency 
exchange rates by maintaining foreign currency exposure within the existing regulatory 
guidelines and at a level that it believes to be relatively conservative for a financial 
institution engaged in that type of business. 
 
The Bank’s foreign currency exposure is primarily limited to the foreign currency 
deposits, which are sourced within the Philippines or generated from remittances by 
Filipino expatriates and overseas Filipino workers.  Also, foreign currency trading with 
corporate accounts and other financial institutions is a source of foreign currency 
exposure for the Bank.  At the end of each month, the Bank reports to the BSP on its 
acquisition and disposition of foreign currency resulting from its daily transactions. 
 

(b) Interest Rate Risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the probability of decline in net interest earnings as a result of an 
adverse movement of interest rates. 
 
In measuring interest rate exposure from an earnings perspective, the Bank calculates 
the Earnings at Risk (EAR) to determine the impact of interest rate changes on the 
Bank’s accrual portfolio.  The EAR is the potential decline in net interest income due 
to the adverse movement in interest rates.  To quantify interest rate exposure, the 
statement of financial position is first classified into interest rate sensitive and non-
interest rate sensitive asset and liability accounts and then divided into pre-defined 
interest rate sensitivity gap tenor buckets with corresponding amounts slotted therein 
based on the term to next re-pricing date (the re-pricing maturity for floating rate 
accounts) and remaining term to maturity (the equivalent re-pricing maturity for fixed 
rate accounts).The rate sensitivity gaps are calculated for each time band and on a 
cumulative basis.  The gap amount for each bucket is multiplied by an assumed change 
in interest rate to determine EAR.    
 
The rate sensitivity gaps are calculated for each time band and on a cumulative basis.   
The gap amount for each bucket is multiplied by an assumed change in interest rate to 
determine EAR.  A negative interest rate sensitivity gap position implies that EAR 
increases with a rise in interest rates, while a positive interest rate sensitivity gap results 
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in a potential decline in net interest rate income as interest rates fall.  To supplement 
the EAR, the Bank regularly employs sensitivity analysis on the Bank’s interest rate 
exposure. 
 
To mitigate interest rate risk, the Bank follows a prudent policy on managing resources 
and liabilities so as to ensure that exposure to interest rate risk is kept within acceptable 
levels. The BOD has also approved the EAR Limit which is reviewed regularly. 

 
(c) Price Risk 
 

In measuring the magnitude of exposures related to the Bank’s trading portfolio  
arising from holding of government and other debt securities, the Bank employs VaR 
methodology.  VaR is an estimate of the amount of loss that a given risk exposure is 
unlikely to exceed during a given time period, at a given level of statistical confidence.  
Analytically, VaR is the product of: (a) the sensitivity of the market value of the 
position to movement of the relevant market risk factors, and (b) the volatility of the 
market risk factor for the given time horizon at a specified level of statistical 
confidence.  Typically, the Bank uses a 99% confidence level for this measurement, i.e., 
losses could exceed the VaR in one out of 100 trading days. 
 
In calculating the severity of the market risk exposure for fixed income securities, the 
Bank takes into account the cash flow weighted term or modified duration of the 
securities comprising the portfolio, the yield to maturity, and mark-to-market value of 
the component securities position in the trading book.  As the VaR methodology 
requires a minimum historical period of reckoning with market movements from a 
transparent discovery platform, the Bank uses yield and price data from Bloomberg in 
the calculation of the volatility of rates of return and security prices, consistent with 
BSP valuation guidelines. 
 
In assessing market risk, the Bank scales the calculated VaR based on assumed 
defeasance or holding periods that range from one day and ten days consistent with 
best practices and BSP standards.   
 
As a prudent market risk control and compliance practice, the BOD has approved a 
market risk limit system which includes: (i) VaR limit on a per instrument and 
portfolio; (ii) loss limit on per investment portfolio, (iii) off-market rate limits on per 
instrument type; and (iv) holding period for investment securities. 
 
In recognition of the limitations of VaR related to the assumptions on which the model 
is based, the Bank supplements the VaR with a wide range of stress tests to model the 
financial impact of a variety of exceptional market scenarios on individual trading 
portfolios and the Bank’s overall position. 
 

 

(d) Liquidity Risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk to income and capital as a result of the Bank failing its 
commitment for funds as they fall due.  The Bank manages its liquidity risk through 
the management’s monitoring of various liquidity ratios, Treasury’s weekly and regular 
assessment of liquidity gaps, and the maturity ladder.   
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A maturity ladder relates the inflows to outflows of funds at selected maturity dates 
and is constructed to measure liquidity exposure.  The ladder shows the Bank’s 
statement of financial position distributed into tenor buckets across the term structure 
on the basis of the term to final maturity or cash flow dates.  The amount of net 
inflows which equals the difference between the amounts of contractually maturing 
assets (inflows) and liabilities (outflows) is computed per tenor bucket and on a 
cumulative basis incorporating certain behavioral and hypothetical assumptions 
regarding the flows from assets and liabilities including contingent commitments over 
time.  The calculated periodic and cumulative gaps constitute the Bank’s run off 
schedule, which indicate the Bank’s net funding requirements in local and foreign 
currency. 
 
To control liquidity gap risks, a quantitative ceiling to the net outflow of funds of the 
Bank called Maximum Cumulative Outflow (MCO) limit is observed per currency 
based on the recommendation of management, which model and assumptions are 
reviewed by the Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) and the ROC prior to the 
confirmation by the BOD. 

 

4.5 Foreign Currency Liquidity Management 
 

The liquidity risk management policies and objectives described also apply to the 
management of any foreign currency to which the Bank maintains significant 
exposure.  Specifically, the Bank ensures that its measurement, monitoring, and 
control systems account for these exposures as well.  The Bank sets and regularly 
reviews limits on the size of the cash flow mismatches for each significant individual 
currency and in aggregate over appropriate time horizons.  The Bank also assesses its 
access to foreign exchange markets when setting up its risk limits. 

 
 4.6 Liquidity Risk Stress 

 
To augment the effectiveness of the Group’s gap analysis, the Group regularly 
assesses liquidity risk based on behavioral and hypothetical assumptions under stress 
conditions.  Survivability and resilience of the Bank are assessed for a minimum stress 
period of 30 days for all crisis scenarios enumerated in BSP Circular No. 981, 
Guidelines on Liquidity Risk Management.   The results of these liquidity stress simulations 
are reported monthly to ALCO and ROC. 

 
4.7 Operational Risk 
 
Operational risks are risks arising from the potential inadequate information systems and 
systems, operations, or transactional problems (relating to service or product delivery), 
breaches in internal controls, fraud, or unforeseen catastrophes that may result in 
unexpected loss.   
 
Operational risks include the risk of loss arising from various types of human or technical 
error, settlement or payments failures, business interruption, administrative and legal risks, 
and the risk arising from systems not performing adequately. 
 
The ROC of the Bank assists management in meeting its responsibility to understand and 
manage operational risk exposures.  
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The ROC applies a number of techniques to efficiently manage operational risks.  Among 
these are enumerated as follows: 
 

• each major business line has an embedded operational risk management officer who 
acts as a point person for the implementation of various operational risk tools.  The 
operational risk officers attend annual risk briefings conducted by the ROC to keep 
them up to date with different operational risk issues, challenges and initiatives. 
 

• with ROC’s bottom-up self-assessment process, which is conducted at least annually, 
areas with high-risk potential are highlighted and reported, and control measures are 
identified.  The results of said self-assessment exercise also serve as one of the inputs 
in identifying specific key risk indicators (KRIs). 
 

• KRIs are used to monitor the operational risk profile of the Bank and of each 
business unit and alert the management of impending problems in a timely fashion. 
 

• internal loss information is collected, reported, and utilized to model operational risk. 
 

• the ROC reviews product and operating manuals, policies, procedures, and circulars, 

thus allowing the embedding of desired operational risk management practices in all 

business units. 

(a) Reputational Risk 
 

Reputation risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from negative public opinion.  
This affects the Bank’s ability to establish new relationships or services, or to 
continue servicing existing relationships.  This risk can expose the Bank to litigation, 
financial loss, or damage to its reputation.  Reputation risk arises whenever 
technology-based banking products, services, delivery channels or processes may 
generate adverse public opinion such that it seriously affects the Bank’s earnings or 
impairs its capital.  This risk is present in activities such as asset management and 
regulatory compliance. 
 
The Bank adopted a reputation risk monitoring and reporting framework to manage 
public perception.   
 

(b) Legal Risk and Regulatory Risk Management 
 
Changes in laws and regulations and fiscal policies could adversely affect the Bank’s 
operations and financial reporting.  In addition, the Bank faces legal risks in 
enforcing its rights under its loan agreements, such as foreclosing of collateral.  Legal 
risk is higher in new areas of business where the law remains untested by the courts.  
The Bank uses a legal review process as the primary control mechanism for legal risk.  
Such a legal review aims to verify and validate the existence, genuineness, and due 
execution of legal documents, and verify the capacity and authority of counterparties 
and customers to enter into transactions.   
  
In addition, the Bank seeks to minimize its legal risk by using stringent legal 
documentation, imposing certain requirements designed to ensure that transactions 
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are properly authorized, and consulting internal and external legal advisors. 
 
Regulatory risk refers to the potential for the Bank to suffer financial loss due to 
changes in the laws or monetary, tax or other governmental regulations of the 
country.  The Bank’s Compliance Program, the design and implementation of which 
is overseen and coordinated by the Compliance Officer, is the primary control 
process for regulatory risk issues.  The Compliance Office is committed to 
safeguarding the integrity of the Bank by maintaining a high level of regulatory 
compliance. 
 
The Compliance Office is responsible for communicating and disseminating new 
rules and regulations to all units, assessing and addressing identified compliance 
issues, performing periodic compliance testing on branches and head office units, 
and reporting compliance findings to the Corporate Governance and the BOD. 
 

4.8 Anti-Money Laundering Controls  
 
The Anti-Money Laundering Act (AMLA) or RA No. 9160 was passed in September 2001 
and was amended by RA No. 9194, RA No. 10167, RA No. 10365, RA No. 10927 and RA 
No. 11521, in March 2003, June 2012, February 2013, June 2016 and July 2020 (which 
effected in February 2021), respectively.  Under the AMLA, as amended, the Bank is 
required to submit “Covered Transaction Reports” to the Anti-Money Laundering Council 
(AMLC) involving single transactions in cash or other equivalent monetary instruments in 
excess of P0.5 million within one banking day, exceeding P1.0 million for transactions (in 
cash or other equivalent monetary instrument) with or involving jewelry dealers, dealers in 
precious metals/precious stones;  exceeding P5.0 million for casino cash transactions; and 
exceeding P7.5 million for cash transaction with or involving real estate developers or 
brokers.   
 
The Bank is also required to submit “Suspicious Transaction Reports” to the AMLC in the 
event that circumstances exist and there are reasonable grounds to believe that the 
transaction is suspicious.  Furthermore, terrorist financing was criminalized in RA No. 
10168.  In addition, the AMLA requires that the Bank safe keeps, as long as the account 
exists, all the Know Your Customer (KYC) documents involving its clients, including 
documents that establish and record the true and full identity of its clients.  Likewise, 
transactional documents must be maintained and stored for five years from the date of the 
transaction.   
 
In cases involving closed accounts, the KYC documents must be kept for five years after 
their closure.  Meanwhile, all records of accounts with court cases must be safe kept until 
there is a final resolution. 
 
On January 27, 2011, BSP Circular No. 706 was implemented superseding all policies on 
AMLA.  The Circular requires the Bank to adopt a comprehensive and risk-based Money 
Laundering and Terrorist Financing Prevention Program (MTPP) designed according to 
the covered institution’s corporate structure and risk profile. 
 
In an effort to further prevent money laundering activities, the Bank revised its KYC 
policies and guidelines in order to comply with the aforementioned Circular.  Under the 
guidelines, each business unit is required to validate the true identity of a customer based 
on official or other reliable identifying documents or records before an account may be 
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opened.  Likewise, the Bank is required to conduct watchlist screening and risk profile its 
clients to Low, Normal or High with its corresponding due diligence of Reduced, Average 
or Enhanced, in compliance with the risk-based approach mandated by the Circular.  
Decisions to enter into a business relationship with a high-risk customer require senior 
management approval. 
 
The Bank’s procedures for compliance with the AMLA are set out in its MTPP.  The 
Bank’s Chief Compliance Officer, through the Anti-Money Laundering Unit and 
Compliance Testing Unit, monitors AMLA compliance and conducts regular compliance 
testing of business units. 
 
All banking units are required to submit to the Compliance Office certificates of 
compliance with the applicable banking laws, rules, regulations and standards including the 
Anti-Money Laundering Rules and Regulations on a quarterly basis. 
  
The Chief Compliance Officer regularly reports to the Board through the Corporate 
Governance Committee the results of their monitoring of AMLA compliance.   

 
5 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT AND REGULATORY CAPITAL 

 
5.1 Capital Management and Regulatory Capital 
 
The Bank’s lead regulator, the BSP, sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank.  
In implementing current capital requirements, the BSP requires the Bank to maintain a 
prescribed ratio of qualifying capital to risk-weighted assets. PBB, being a stand-alone thrift 
bank, is required under BSP regulations to comply with Basel 1.5.  Under this regulation, 
the qualifying capital account of the Bank should not be less than an amount equal to 10% 
of its risk weighted assets.   
 
The qualifying capital of the Bank for purposes of determining the capital-to-risk assets 
ratio consists of Tier 1 capital plus Tier 2 capital elements net of the required deductions 
from capital such as: 
 
(a) unbooked valuation reserves and other capital adjustments as may be required by the 

BSP; 
(b) total outstanding unsecured credit accommodations to directors, officers, 

stockholders and related interests (DOSRI);  
(c) deferred tax asset net of deferred tax liability;  
(d) goodwill;   
(e) sinking fund for redemption of redeemable preferred shares; and, 
(f) other regulatory deductions. 

 

Risk weighted assets is the sum of the Bank’s credit risk weighted assets, operational risk 
weighted assets, and market risk weighted assets.  The latter was due to the Bank’s authority 
to engage in derivatives as end-user under a Type 3 Limited End-User Authority.  Risk 
weighted assets are computed using the standardized approach for credit and market risks 
while basic indicator approach with modification was used for operational risk.   
 
The following are the risk-based capital adequacy of the Bank as of June 30, 2025, December 
31, 2024 and 2023 (amounts in millions): 
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(Amounts in millions PHP) 2025  2024  2023 

      
Net Tier 1 Capital 17,205  16,827   15,557 
Tier 2 Capital 1,266  1,272  1,144 

Total Qualifying Capital 18,471  18,099   16,701 

      
Net Tier 1 Capital 17,205  16,827   15,557 
Preferred Shares (620)  (620)  (620) 

Common Equity Tier 1 Capital  16,585   16,207   14,937 

      
Risk Weighted Assets:      

Credit Risk Weighted Assets 126,206  126,680   113,928 
Operational Risk Weighted Assets 10,492  9,634  9,162 
Market Risk Weighted Assets 6,166  6,615  3,942 

      
Total Risk-Weighted Assets 142,864  142,929   127,032 

      
Capital ratios:      

Total qualifying capital 
expressed      

as percentage of total      
risk-weighted assets 12.9%  12.7%  13.1% 

Common Equity Tier 1 capital      
expressed as percentage of      
total risk-weighted assets 11.6%  11.3%  11.8% 

Capital Conservation Buffer      
expressed as Common Equity      
Tier 1 capital minus 6 5.6%  5.3%  5.8% 

Net Tier 1 capital expressed as      
percentage of total      
risk-weighted assets 12.0 %  11.8%  12.2% 

 
The amount of surplus funds available for dividend declaration is determined also on the 
basis of regulatory net worth after considering certain adjustments. 
 
The Bank’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base in order to maintain investor, creditor 
and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.  The impact of 
the level of capital on shareholder’s return is also recognized and the Bank recognizes the 
need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with greater 
gearing and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position. 

  
A bank’s regulatory capital is analyzed into two tiers, which are Tier 1 Capital plus Tier 2 
Capital less deductions from the total of Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital equivalent to 50% of the 
following:  
  
(a) Investments in equity of unconsolidated subsidiary banks and other financial allied 

undertakings, but excluding insurance companies;  
 
(b) Investments in debt capital instruments of unconsolidated subsidiary banks; 
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(c) Investments in equity of subsidiary insurance companies and non-financial allied 
undertakings; 
 

(d) Reciprocal investments in equity of other banks/enterprises; and, 
 

(e) Reciprocal investments in unsecured subordinated term debt instruments of other 
banks/quasi-banks qualifying as Hybrid Tier 1, Upper Tier 2 and Lower Tier 2, in 
excess of the lower of (i) an aggregate ceiling of 5% of total Tier 1 capital of the 
bank excluding Hybrid Tier 1; or (ii) 10% of the total outstanding unsecured 
subordinated term debt issuance of the other bank/quasi-banks.  

 
Provided, that any asset deducted from the qualifying capital in computing the numerator 
of the risk-based capital ratio shall not be included in the risk-weighted assets in computing 
the denominator of the ratio.   
 
As of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Bank has no exposure in item (a) to item 
(e) above.  There were no material changes in the Bank’s management of capital during the 
current year. 
  
As of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Bank has satisfactorily complied with the 
capital-to-risk assets ratio. 
  
Under existing BSP regulations, the determination of the Bank’s compliance with 
regulatory requirements and ratios is based on the amount of the Bank’s “unimpaired 
capital” (regular net worth) reported to the BSP, determined on the basis of regulatory 
accounting policies, which differ from PFRS in some aspects (mainly in the recognition of 
deferred tax assets).  Thrift banks with head offices in the National Capital Region and 
having more than 50 branches are required to comply with the minimum capital 
requirement of P2.0 billion.  The Bank has complied with the minimum capital 
requirement at the end of each reporting period. 

  
5.2 Minimum Liquidity Ratio 
 
On February 8, 2018, the BSP issued Circular No. 996, Amendments to the Liquidity Coverage 
Ratio Framework for Stand-Alone Thrift Banks, Rural Banks, Cooperative Banks, and Quasi-Banks, 
which provide guidance on and prescribes the prudential requirement for covered 
institutions to maintain eligible stock of liquid assets proportionate to the level of total 
qualifying liabilities (i.e., both on and off-balance sheet liabilities).  Eligible liquid assets 
shall include cash and other liquid assets that are immediately liquefiable and free from 
encumbrances.   
 
The minimum liquidity ratio (MLR) of 20% shall be complied with on an ongoing basis 
absent a period of financial stress effective January 1, 2019.  However, the Bank was only 
able to comply with the MLR requirement starting June 2019. 
 
On April 7, 2020, the BSP issued Memorandum No. M-2020-020, Reduction in the Minimum 
Liquidity Ratio in Response to Covid-19, which reduced the MLR for stand-alone thrift banks, 
rural banks and cooperative banks from 20% to 16% until December 31, 2020.  On 
December 1, 2020, the BSP issued an extension on the effectivity of the temporary 
reduction of MLR thru Memorandum No. M-2020-085 until December 31, 2021.  
Furthermore, Memorandum No. M-2022-004, Extension of BSP Prudential Relief Measures, 
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further extended the reduction of MLR to 16% for stand-alone thrift banks, rural banks 
and cooperative banks until December 31, 2022. 
 
The Bank’s MLR are analyzed below (amounts in millions PHP except MLR figure). 

 

 2025  2024 

    
Eligible stock liquid assets 34,388   32,698 
Total qualifying liabilities 140,324  142,438 

    
MLR 24.51%  22.96% 

 
 
6 CATEGORIES AND OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 

FINANCIALLIABILITIES 
 
6.1 Carrying Amounts and Fair Values by Category 
 
The following table summarizes the carrying values and fair values of those financial assets 
and financial liabilities in the statements of financial position: 
 

  Notes   Carrying Values   Fair Values  
 
 June 30, 2025: 
 

Financial Assets 
Loans and receivables: 

  Cash and other cash items 9    P 997,321,948 P 997,321,948 
  Due from BSP 9    3,319,971,218  3,319,971,218 
  Due from other banks 10   5,328,145,952  5,328,145,952 

Investment securities - net 11   1,246,766,499  1,246,766,499 
  Loans and other receivables  12  119,403,226,727  119,403,226,727 
  Other resources 13  95,354,995  95,354,995 
 At fair value: 
  FVPL securities 11  9,891,446,873  9,891,446,873 
  FVOCI securities 11  15,442,169,385  15,442,169,385 
 
     P155,724,403,597 P155,724,403,597 
 
Financial Liabilities 
 At amortized cost: 
  Deposit liabilities 14 P133,507,526,092 P133,507,526,092 
  Bills payable 15  3,701,000,000  3,701,000,000 
  Accrued expenses and  
  other liabilities 17  4,460,868,410  4,460,868,410 
 
     P141,669,394,502 P141,669,394,502 
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December 31, 2024: 
Financial Assets      

At amortized cost:      
Cash and other cash items 9  1,177,794,637  1,177,794,637 
Due from BSP 9  2,881,093,706  2,881,093,706 
Due from other banks 10  4,056,453,936  4,056,453,936 
Investment securities – net 11  1,270,349,150  1,269,982,358 
Loans and other  

receivables – net 
12  

128,272,138,050  118,743,875,450 
Other resources 13  139,941,203  139,941,203 

At fair value:      
FVTPL securities 11  10,173,768,625  10,173,768,625 
FVOCI securities 11  14,326,399,293  14,326,399,293 

      
   162,297,938,600  152,769,309,208 

Financial Liabilities      
At amortized cost:      

Deposit liabilities 14  139,094,278,870  138,404,045,657 
Bills payable 15  4,562,500,000  4,562,500,000 
Accrued expenses and  

other liabilities 
16  

1,919,671,854  1,919,671,854 

      
   145,576,450,724  144,886,217,511 

 
The Bank considers that the carrying amounts of foregoing other financial assets and 
financial liabilities which are measured at amortized cost, approximate the fair values either 
because those instruments are short-term in nature or the effect of discounting for those 
with maturities of more than one year is not material.  The fair value information disclosed 
for the Bank’s debt securities are determined based on the procedures and methodologies 
discussed in Note 7.2. 

 
6.2 Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

 
For financial assets and financial liabilities subject to enforceable master netting agreements 
or similar arrangements, each agreement between the Bank and counterparties allows for 
net settlement of the relevant financial assets and financial liabilities when both elect to 
settle on a net basis.  In the absence of such an election, financial assets and financial 
liabilities will be settled on a gross basis; however, each party to the master netting 
agreement or similar agreement will have the option to settle all such amounts on a net 
basis in the event of default of the other party. 

 
7 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT AND DISCLOSURES 

 
7.1 Fair Value Hierarchy 

 
In accordance with PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, the fair value of financial assets and 
financial liabilities and non-financial assets which are measured at fair value on a recurring 
or non-recurring basis and those assets and liabilities not measured at fair value but for 
which fair value is disclosed in accordance with other relevant PFRS, are categorized into 
three levels based on the significance of inputs used to measure the fair value.  The fair 
value hierarchy has the following levels:  



SEC Form 17-Q  47 

Philippine Business Bank                                                          

 

▪ Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities that an entity can access at the measurement date; 

 

▪ Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., 
derived from prices); and, 

 

▪ Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 
data (unobservable inputs).  

 
The level within which the financial asset or liability is classified is determined based on the 
lowest level of significant input to the fair value measurement.  

 
For purposes of determining the market value at Level 1, a market is regarded as active if 
quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry 
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly 
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. 

 
For investments which do not have quoted market price, the fair value is determined by 
using generally acceptable pricing models and valuation techniques or by reference to the 
current market of another instrument which is substantially the same after taking into 
account the related credit risk of counterparties, or is calculated based on the expected cash 
flows of the underlying net asset base of the instrument. 
 
When the Bank uses valuation technique, it maximizes the use of observable market data 
where it is available and relies as little as possible on entity specific estimates.  If all 
significant inputs required to determine the fair value of an instrument are observable, the 
instrument is included in Level 2.  Otherwise, it is included in Level 3. 

 
7.2 Financial Instruments Measured at Fair Value 

 
The fair value of the debt securities of the Bank determined as follows: 

 
(a) For peso-denominated government debt securities issued by the Philippine 

government, fair value is determined to be the reference price per PDEx which 
is computed based on the weighted average of done or executed deals (Level1), 
or the simple average of all firm bids per benchmark tenor or interpolated yields 
(Level 2).  This is consistent with BSP Circular No. 813, issued by the BSP 
pursuant to Monetary Board Resolution No. 1504 dated September 13, 2013.  

 
(b) For other quoted debt securities under Level 1, fair value is determined to be the 

current mid-price, which is computed as the average of ask and bid prices as 
appearing on Bloomberg. 

 
There were neither transfers between Levels 1 and 2 nor changes in Level 3 
instruments in both years. 
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7.3 Financial Instruments Measured at Amortized Cost for which Fair Value is 
Disclosed 

 
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities not presented at fair value in the 
statements of financial position are determined as follows: 
 
(a) Cash and Other Cash Items 

 
Cash consists primarily of funds in the form of Philippine currency notes and coins in 
the Bank’s vault and those in the possession of tellers, including automated teller 
machines(see Note 9).  Other cash items include cash items other than currency and 
coins on hand (see Note 13) such as checks drawn on the other banks or other 
branches that were received after the Bank’s clearing cut-off time until the close of the 
regular banking hours. Carrying amounts approximate fair values in view of the 
relatively short-term maturities of these instruments. 
 

(b) Due from BSP and Other Banks and SPURRA 
 
Due from BSP pertains to deposits made by the Bank to BSP for clearing and reserve 
requirements while SPURRA pertain to loans and receivables from BSP arising from 
overnight lending from excess liquidity.  Due from other banks includes interbank 
deposits and items in the course of collection.  The fair value of floating rate 
placements and overnight deposits is their carrying amount.  The estimated fair value 
of fixed interest-bearing deposits is based on discounted cash flows using prevailing 
money-market interest rates for debts with similar credit risk and remaining maturity, 
which for short-term deposits approximates the nominal value.  
 

(c) Loans and Other Receivables 
 

Loans and other receivables are net of impairment losses.  The estimated fair value of 
loans and other receivables represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash 
flows expected to be received.  Long term interest-bearing loans are periodically 
repriced at interest rates equivalent to the current market rates, to determine fair value.  
 

(d) Other Financial Assets 
 
Other financial assets pertain to foreign currency notes and coins, security deposits and 
petty cash fund which are included in the Other Resources account.  Due to their short 
duration, the carrying amounts of these items in the statements of financial position are 
considered to be reasonable approximation of their fair values. 

 
(e) Deposits Liabilities and Borrowings 

 
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-
interest-bearing deposits, is the amount repayable on demand.  The estimated fair 
value of long-term fixed interest-bearing deposits and other borrowings without 
quoted market price is based on discounted cash flows using interest rates for new 
debts with similar remaining maturity.  The carrying amount of short term bills 
payable approximate their fair values.  For corporate notes payable categorized 
within Level 3, fair value is determined based on their discounted amount of 
estimated future cash flows expected to be received or paid, or based on their cost 
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which management estimates to approximate their fair values.   
 

(f) Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities 
 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities classified as financial liabilities are recognized 
initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amounts to which they are to 
be paid.  Due to their short-duration, management ascertained that the fair values of 
these short-term liabilities approximate their carrying values. 

 
7.4 Fair Value Measurement of Investment Properties Carried at Cost 

 
The fair value of the investment properties of the Bank was determined on the basis of a 
valuation carried out on the acquisition dates by either an independent or internal 
appraiser having appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of 
properties in the relevant locations.  To some extent, the valuation process was 
conducted by the appraisers in discussion with the management of the Bank with respect 
to determination of the inputs such as size, age, and condition of the land and buildings 
and the comparable prices in the corresponding property location.  In estimating the fair 
value of the properties, management takes into account the market participant’s ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the assets in highest and best use.  Based on 
management’s assessment, the best use of the investment properties indicated above is 
their current use which is generate positive future cash flows through sale.  

 
The fair value of these investment properties were determined based on the following 
approaches: 

 
(a) Fair Value Measurement for Land 

 
The Level 3 fair value of land was derived using observable recent prices of the reference 
properties adjusted for differences in key attributes such as property size, zoning, and 
accessibility.  The most significant input into this valuation approach is the price per square 
foot; hence, the higher the price per square foot, the higher the fair value. On the other 
hand, if fair value of the land was derived using the market comparable approach that 
reflects the recent transaction prices for similar properties in nearby locations, fair value is 
included in Level 2.Under this approach, when sales prices of comparable land in close 
proximity are used in the valuation of the subject property, minor adjustments on the price 
is made to consider peculiarities of the property with that of the benchmark property. 
 
(b) Fair Value Measure for Building and Improvements 
 
The Level 3 fair value of the buildings and improvements under Investment Properties 
account was determined using the replacement cost approach that reflects the cost to a 
market participant to construct an asset of comparable usage, constructions standards, 
design and lay-out, adjusted for obsolescence.  The more significant inputs used in the 
valuation include direct and indirect costs of construction such as but not limited to, labor 
and contractor’s profit, materials and equipment, surveying and permit costs, electricity and 
utility costs, architectural and engineering fees, insurance and legal fees.  These inputs were 
derived from various suppliers and contractor’s quotes, price catalogues, and construction 
price indices.  Under this approach, higher estimated costs used in the valuation will result 
in higher fair value of the properties.   
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There has been no change to the valuation techniques used by the Bank during the year for 
its non-financial assets.  Also, there were no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair value 
hierarchy in 2025 and 2024. 

 
8 SEGMENT REPORTING 
  

The Bank’s main operating businesses are organized and managed separately according to 
the nature of services and products provided and the different markets served, with each 
segment representing a strategic business unit.  These are also the basis of the Bank in 
reporting to its chief operating decision-maker for its strategic decision-making activities. 

  
 Management currently identifies the Bank’s three service lines as primary operating 

segments. 
 

(a) Consumer Banking – includes auto financing, home financing, and salary or personal 
loans;  

(b) Corporate Banking – includes term loans, working capital credit lines, bills purchase and 
discounting lines; and, 

(c) Treasury Operations – manages liquidity of the Bank and is a key component in revenue 
and income generation through its trading and investment activities. 

 
These segments are the basis on which the Bank reports its segment information.  
Transactions between the segments are on normal commercial terms and conditions.   

 
Segment revenues and expenses that are directly attributable to primary operating segment 
and the relevant portions of the Bank’s revenues and expenses that can be allocated to that 
operating segment are accordingly reflected as revenues and expenses of that operating 
segment.  Revenue sharing agreements are used to allocate external customer revenues to a 
segment on a reasonable basis. 

 
9 CASH AND DUE FROM BSP 

 
This account is composed of the following: 
 

   Notes   2025   2024  
 
 Cash and other cash items    P 997,321,948 P 1,177,794,637 
 Due from BSP:     
  Mandatory reserves     169,971,218   631,093,606  
  Other than mandatory  
  reserves     3,150,000,000   2,250,000,100  
       3,319,971,218   2,881,093,706  
 Due from other banks  10   5,328,145,952  4,056,453,936 
 SPURRA   12    -  500,000,000 

Interbank loans  
receivables   -  615,690,000 

 Foreign currency notes and 
  coins on hand   13   48,313,339  82,379,182 
   
      P 9,693,752,457 P 9,313,411,461 
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Cash consists primarily of funds in the form of Philippine currency notes and coins in the 
Bank’s vault and those in the possession of tellers, including automated teller machines.  
Other cash items include cash items [other than currency and coins on hand such as checks 
drawn on the other banks or other branches that were received after the Bank’s clearing cut-
off time until the close of the regular banking hours.  

 
Mandatory reserves represent the balance of the deposit account maintained with the 
BSP to meet reserve requirements and to serve as clearing account for interbank 
claims(see Note 14). 
 
Due from BSP other than mandatory reserves bears annual effective interest rates as 
follows: 
 

   2025   2024   2023  
  
   3.75% - 4.25%   3.75% - 4.25%   3.75% - 4.25% 
  
    

The total interest income earned for six month period ending June 30, 2025, 2024 and 
2023 amounted to P65.2 million, P76.3 million and P120.4.3 million respectively, and are 
included as part of Interest Income on Due from BSP and Other Banks in the 
statements of profit or loss. 

 
10 DUE FROM OTHER BANKS 
 

The balance of this account represents deposits with the following: 
 

   2025   2024  
 
 Local banks    P 5,300,778,236 P 2,746,158,008 
 Foreign banks     27,367,716  1,310,295,928 
      
      P 5,328,145,952 P 4,056,453,936 

 
Interest rates on these deposits range from 1.62% to 5.00% per annum in 2025, from 
1.70% to 5.4  per annum in 2024 1.70% to 5.54% per annum in 2023. The total interest 
income earned for six months period ending June 30, 2025, 2024 and 2023 amounted to 
P35.5 million, P20.3 million and P53.8 million respectively, and are included as part of 
Interest Income on Due from BSP and Other Banks in the statements of profit or loss. 

 
11 TRADING AND INVESTMENT SECURITIES 

 
The components of this account are presented below. 

 
   2025   2024  
 
 Financial assets at FVPL    P 9,891,446,873 P10,173,768,625 
 Financial assets at FVOCI     15,442,169,385  14,326,399,293 
 Investment Securities at amortized 
  Cost-net     1,246,766,499  1,270,3
      P 26,580,382,757 P25,770,517,068 
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 11.1 Investment Securities at FPVL  
  
 This account is composed of the following: 
 
   2025   2024  
 
 Corporate bonds    P 9,259,690,888 P 870,645,051 
 Government debt securities     631,351,534  9,303,123,574 
 Derivatives financial assets     404,451  - 
   
      P 9,891,446,873 P10,173,768,625 
 

Effective interest rates of investment securities at FPVL range from: 
 

   2025   2024   2023  
  
 Government debt securities  4.7% – 8.1%  3.0% – 8.0%   3.0% – 8.0%  
 Corporate bonds  3.3% –5.5%  2.8% –5.5%   2.8% – 5.5% 
  

11.2 Investment Securities at FVOCI 
 

 This account is composed of the following: 
 
   2025   2024  
 
 Government debt securities    P 14,583,868,965 P13,468,034,106 
 Corporate bonds – quoted     858,300,420  858,365,187 
       -   -  
   
      P 15,442,169,385 P14,326,399,293 
 

Effective interest rates of investment securities at FVOCI range from: 
 

   2025   2024   2023  
  
 Government debt securities  2.9% – 8.6%   2.9% – 9.5%   2.4% – 8.6%  
 Corporate bonds  3.3% –4.7%   3.3% –4.7%   3.3% –4.9% 
 

 
 11.3 Investment Securities at Amortized Cost 
  
 This account is composed of the following: 
   2025   2024  
 
 Government debt securities    P 958,362,197 P 973,655,247 
 Corporate bonds – quoted     304,182,000  312,471,601 
       -    
       1,262,544,197  1,286,126,848 
 Allowance for impairment             (15,777,698)  (15,777,698) 
   
      P 1,246,766,499 P 1,270,349,150 
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Effective interest rates of investment securities at amortized cost range from: 

 
   2025   2024   2023  
  
 Government debt securities  3.4%-8.1%   3.6%-8.1%   3.6%-8.1%  
 Corporate bonds  7.3%   3.7%-7.3%   3.7%-7.3%  
 
 

12 LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 
 This account consists of the following: 
 
   2025   2024  
 Receivables from customers: 
  Loans and discounts    P124,368,619,384  131,902,297,185 

 Unearned discount    (  218,404,782) (  203,843,460) 
       124,150,214,602  131,698,453,725 

    Bills purchased   629,952,059  354,315,616 
  Customers’ liabilities on  
   acceptances, letters of  
   credit and trust receipts     91,071,124  212,429,303 

        124,871,237,785   132,265,198,644  
Other receivables: 

  Accrued interest receivable       993,180,105    1,067,063,548 
  Accounts receivable      230,955,721    182,448,237 
  Deficiency claims receivable       58,623,568    58,623,568 
  Sales contracts receivable      16,758,807    18,552,731 
 Interbank call loans receivable      -    615,690,000  
             
           
 SPURRA      -    500,000,000  
             
          
         -    -  
       1,299,518,201   2,442,378,084  
         
       125,170,755,986  134,707,576,728 
              
         
 Allowance for impairment     (   6,767,529,259) (   6,435,438,678 ) 
        
      P119,403,226,727 P128,272,138,050 

 
 
SPURRA are secured by certain treasury bills of the BSP SPURRA represent loans and 
receivables from BSP as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024 arise from overnight 
lending from excess liquidity. 
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   2025   2024   2023  
  
 Loans and discounts  0.0% – 59.9%   0.7% – 189.7%   0.7% – 189.7%  
 Other receivables  5.1% – 12.0%   2.0% – 12.0%   2.0% – 12.0% 

 
The total interest income earned for six month period ended June 30, 2025, 2024 and 
2023 amounted to: 

   2025   2024   2023  
  
 Loans and discounts P 5,050,017,774 P 4,442,632,638 P 3,822,328,771 
 Other receivables  19,795,314  69,434,678  78,591,120 
 
  P 5,069,813,088 P 4,512,067,316 P 3,900,919,891 

 
Certain qualified micro, small and medium enterprises (MSME) loans with outstanding 
balance of P574.9 million and P847.3 million (gross of allowance for impairment) as of 
June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, respectively, were used as alternative compliance 
with the BSP reserve requirement (see Note 14). 

 
13 OTHER RESOURCES 

 
 This account consists of the following as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024:  
 

(Amounts in PHP) Notes  2025  2024 

      

Branch licenses   250,800,000  250,800,000 
Prepaid expenses   149,746,388  136,004,387 
Goodwill   121,890,408  121,890,408 
Computer software – net   102,250,526  105,060,619 
Security deposits   58,767,026  112,951,308 

Foreign currency notes and 
coins on hand  

 

48,313,339  82,379,182 
Other acquired assets – net   78,433,703  86,193,416 
Stationery and supplies   44,568,884  42,031,594 
Deferred charges   41,208,481  41,234,456 
Club shares   38,000,000  38,000,000 
Due from head office or       

branches   (42)                 11,569 
Miscellaneous   266,624,038  56,657,732 

   1,200,602,751  1,073,214,671 

      

Allowance for impairment:      

Prepaid expense    (1,654,737)   (1,654,737) 

Other acquired  
assets - net 

   
(13,730,765)  

 
      (13,730,765) 

   (15,385,502)  (15,385,502) 

      
   1,185,217,249  1,057,829,169 
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13.1. Branch Licenses 
 
In 2019 and 2016, the Bank opened branches in Metro Manila, Southern Luzon,  
Vis-Min, CAMANAVA, and Central Luzon.  The total cost of branch licenses amounted 
to P0.3 million in 2019 and P1.8 million in 2016. 
 
On February 27, 2014, the Bank received approval from the BSP of its application for  
new licenses.  This is in line with the Bank’s branch expansion program for which it has 
allocated a portion of its IPO proceeds to cover the cost of new licenses in the following 
areas plus processing fees, which amounted to P2.2 million: CAMANAVA, Vis-Min Area, 
Central Luzon and Southern Luzon.  In November 2011, the Monetary Board of BSP 
approved the request of the Bank to establish 15 branches in selected restricted cities in 
Metro Manila for a total consideration of P226.5 million which was paid by the Bank to the 
BSP in January 2012.   
 
In December 2011, the Bank acquired four licenses from Prime Savings Bank, Inc. for a 
total consideration of P20.0 million. 
 
As indicated in Notes 2.7, 2.12 and 3.2(g), branch licenses are tested for impairment 
annually. The recoverable amount of the CGU has been based on Value-in-Use (VIU) 
calculation using the excess projected net income from forecasts approved by the Bank’s 
management covering a five-year period and a terminal growth rate.  The key assumptions 
used in the estimation of the VIU in 2024 and 2023 include using a discount rate of 10.4% 
and 11.6%, respectively, and terminal value growth rate of 5.8% and 6.2%, respectively. 
 
Key assumptions in VIU calculation of CGUs are most sensitive to discount rates and 
growth rates used to project excess net income.  Future net income and growth rates were 
based on experience, strategies developed, and prospects.  The discount rate used for the 
computation of the discounted excess earnings is the weighted average cost of capital and 
was determined by reference to the BVAL rate of treasury bond, adjusted for a risk 
premium.  The terminal growth rate was determined based on the average annual GDP 
growth rate.   
 
The recoverable amount has been based on fair value reflecting market conditions, less 
costs to sell.  The Bank used the prevailing price of the special licensing fees as required by 
the BSP before acceptance of branch application.  As of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 
2024, the Bank has assessed that the recoverable amount of these branch licenses is the 
same as the carrying value; hence, no impairment loss is required to be recognized in the 
statements of profit or loss.   
  

 
13.2. Goodwill 

 
Goodwill arose from the following acquisitions:  

 
 Rural Bank of Kawit (RBK)      P 59,513,648 
 Kabalikat Rural Bank, Inc. (KRBI)       49,878,393  
 Bataan Savings and Loan Bank, Inc. (BLSB)     12,498,367   
  
         P 121,890,408   
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In September 2014, as part of the Bank’s expansion strategy, the BOD approved the  
acquisition of all the assets and assumption of all the obligation of RBK in exchange for  
P15.0 million.  Upon approval by the BSP on February 1, 2016, the Bank recognized the  
assets and liabilities of RBK at their fair values, resulting in the recognition of P59.5 million 
goodwill. 
 
KRBI, which is located in Sta. Maria Bulacan, Philippines, was acquired in 2010, which also 
resulted in the recognition of goodwill amounting to P49.9 million.  
 
In July 2015, the Bank entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement with BLSB, whereby 
the Bank acquired all the assets of BLSB and assumed the payment of all its obligations.  
The agreed purchase price was P68.8 million, which has been fully paid by the Bank in 
2015.  On July 12, 2017, the BSP approved the acquisition; hence, the Bank recognized the 
assets and liabilities of BLSB at their approximate fair values resulting in the recognition of 
P12.5 million goodwill. 
 
The Bank acquired the foregoing smaller banks with the objective of availing the branch 
incentives under the Strengthening Program for Rural Bank Plus; and its expected future 
economic benefits and synergies that will result from incorporating the operations of these 
acquired rural banks with that of the Bank which expands its presence in the small and 
medium enterprise market.  Accordingly, the Bank acquired them at a premium resulting in 
the recognition of goodwill. 
 
As indicated in Notes 2.12 and 3.2(g), goodwill is tested for impairment annually.  The 
Bank engaged a third-party specialist to perform an independent impairment testing of 
goodwill. The recoverable amount of the CGU has been based on VIU calculation using 
the cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by the Bank’s senior 
management covering a five-year period.  Key assumptions in VIU calculation of CGUs 
are most sensitive to discount rates and growth rates used to project cash flows.  Future 
cash flows and growth rates were based on experience, strategies developed, and prospects.  
The discount rate used for the computation of the net present value is the cost of equity 
and was determined by reference to comparable entities within the industry.   
 
In 2024 and 2023, the discount rates applied to cash flow projections are and 10.4% and 
11.6%, respectively, while the growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows for the five-year 
period are 5.8% and 6.2% for 2024 and 2023, respectively.  The growth rates are consistent 
with forecasts included in industry reports specific to the industry in which each CGU 
operates. 
 
As of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Bank has assessed that the carrying 
amount of the goodwill is fully recoverable.  Accordingly, no impairment loss is required to 
be recognized in the statements of profit or loss in both years. 
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14 DEPOSIT LIABILITIES 
 

 The classification of the Bank’s deposit liabilities as to currency follows: 
 
 

   2025   2024  
 
 Philippine peso    P 126,611,262,628 P131,821,188,540 
 Foreign currencies     6,896,263,464  7,273,090,330 
   
      P 133,507,526,092    P139,094,278,870 
 
Annual interest rates on deposit liabilities range from: 

 
   2025   2024   2023  
  
 Philippine peso  1.8% – 7.3%   1.8% – 7.3%   0.1% – 6.3% 
 Foreign currencies  1.4% – 5.0%   1.4% – 5.0%   0.1% – 4.0% 

 
Total interest expense for six month period ending June 30, 2025, 2024 and 2023  
amounted to: 
 

   2025   2024   2023  
  
 Time P 1,964,199,433 P 1,667,601,654 P 1,196,055,407 
 Savings  27,361,725  29,966,174  28,293,105 
 Demand  -  -  - 
 
  P 1,991,561,158 P 1,697,567,828 P 1,224,348,512 
 

Under existing BSP regulations, the Bank is subject to a reserve requirement equivalent to  
2.0% of non-FCDU deposit liabilities. The monetary Board, in its Resolution No. 1027 and 
186.A dated September 5, 2024 and February 20, 2025, approved the reduction in the 
reserve requirement for Thrift Banks to 0% effective reserve week starting March 28, 2025. 
On April 6, 2012, the BSP issued an amendment to the existing provisions as to the 
eligibility of cash and deposit accounts with BSP as forms of reserve requirements.  As 
indicated in the amendment, cash and other cash items are no longer considered as eligible 
reserves.   
 
Pursuant to BSP Circular No. 1087, Alternative Compliance with the Reserve Requirements of  
Banks and Non-bank Financial Institutions with Quasi-banking Functions, the Bank used qualified 
MSME loans as allowable alternative compliance with the reserve requirement both in June 
30, 2025 and December 31, 2024 (see Note 12).   
 
The Bank’s available reserves as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024 amount to 
P675.7 million and P1,351.1 million, respectively, and is compliant with these BSP 
regulations (see Notes 9). 
 

15 BILLS PAYABLE 
 

On June 23, 2025, the Bank obtained a short-term P1.0 billion bills payable from the 
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Development Bank of the Philippines (DBP).  The initial interest rate on this bills payable 
was 5.60% per annum, subject to monthly repricing.  The maturity date for this DBP bills 
payable is July 18, 2025.  This bills payable is secured by certain government securities of 
the Bank amounting to P1,470.3 million in 2025 

 
On May 26, 2025, the Bank obtained a short-term P1.70 billion bills payable from the 
Development Bank of the Philippines (DBP).  The initial interest rate on this bills payable 
was 5.60% per annum, subject to monthly repricing.  The maturity date for this DBP bills 
payable is July 25, 2025.  This bills payable is secured by certain government securities of 
the Bank amounting to P2,254.0 million in 2025 

 
On May 15, 2025, the Bank obtained a short-term P1.0 billion bills payable from the 
Development Bank of the Philippines (DBP).  The initial interest rate on this bills payable 
was 5.65% per annum, subject to monthly repricing.  The maturity date for this DBP bills 
payable is July 14, 2025.  This bills payable is secured by certain government securities of 
the Bank amounting to P1,400.0 million in 2025 

 
On November 27, 2024, the Bank obtained a short-term P2.10 billion bills payable from 
the Development Bank of the Philippines (DBP).  The initial interest rate on this bills 
payable was 5.50% per annum, subject to monthly repricing.  The maturity date for this 
DBP bills payable is February 25, 2025.  This bills payable is secured by certain 
government securities of the Bank amounting to P2,654.7 million in 2024. 
 
On November 13, 2024, the Bank obtained an additional short-term P1.50 billion bills 
payable from the Land Bank of the Philippines (LBP).  The initial interest rate on this bill 
was 5.79% per annum, payable monthly, subject to monthly repricing.  The maturity date 
for this LBP bills payable was February 11, 2024.   
 
On November 20, 2024, the Bank obtained another short-term P0.90 billion bills payable 
from DBP.  The initial interest rate on this bill was 5.85% per annum, subject to monthly 
repricing.  The interest on this bills payable is payable monthly. The maturity date for this 
DBP bills payable was February 18, 2025.  This bills payable is secured by certain 
government securities of the Bank amounting to P1,400.0 million in 2024 (see Notes 6.2 
and 10).   
 
Additionally, the Bank had one outstanding bills payable from a prior year that was 
rediscounted until March 24, 2025.  This bills payable carried an interest rate of 6.50% per 
annum, payable quarterly.  There was a partial settlement of this rediscounted bills payable 
amounted to P62.5 million. 

 
The total interest expense for six month period ending June 30, 2025 and 2024 amounted 
to P130.5 million, P283.6 million, respectively, and is recognized as part of Interest 
Expense in the 2025 and 2024 statements of profit or loss.   
 
As of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the total outstanding bills payable amounting 
to P3,701.0 million and P4,562.5 million, respectively. 
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16 ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES 
 

 The breakdown of this account follows: 
 

   Notes   2025    2024  
    
  Manager’s checks      P 244,990,884    P 680,842,434  
  Accrued expenses      917,426,201    626,851,298  
  Accounts payable       1,777,472,751     1,366,890,133  
  Lease liabilities       541,067,995    552,557,746 
  Outstanding acceptances        91,071,123     194,335,850  
  Income tax payable      155,964,892     93,783,621   
  Bills purchased       629,952,059    354,315,616 
  Withholding taxes payable      147,232,307     168,673,998 
  Post-employment defined  
   benefit obligation       101,460,210     101,460,210  
  Due to BSP       45,911,427     68,906,600 
  Payment orders payable        6,598,405     13,021,889 
  Sundry credits        68,784,097     444,813,939 
  Others      137,593,468   307,941,408 
    
         P 4,865,525,819  P 4,974,394,742 
 

Accrued expenses include primarily accruals of performance bonus, other employee 
benefits, utilities, janitorial and security services fees.   
 
Outstanding acceptances pertain to obligations recognized by the Bank in its undertaking 
arising from letters of credit extended to its borrowers. 
  
Bills purchased represent the checks presented for encashment pending the clearing 
process of the Bank to allow its clients to meet their needs for liquidity. 

 
Payment orders payable represents the amount transmitted by the Bank to a beneficiary’s 
bank, which is issued upon its receipt of the payment order as instructed by the sender. 
 
Others primarily include SSS and Pag-IBIG premiums and loans payable, sundry credits 
and unclaimed balances. 
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17 EQUITY 
 

17.7 Capital Stock 
 
 Capital stock consists of: 

 2025  2024 

 Shares  

Amount  

in PHP  Shares  

Amount 

in PHP 

        

Preferred shares – P10 par 

value 
       

Authorized        

Balance at end of year 130,000,000   1,300,000,000  130,000,000  1,300,000,000 

Issued and outstanding        

Balance at end of year 62,000,000    620,000,000  62,000,000   620,000,000 

        

Common shares – P10 par value         

Authorized        

Balance at end of year 1,370,000,000  13,700,000,000  1,370,000,000  13,700,000,000 

Issued and outstanding        

Balance at end of year 818,750,094   8,187,500,940  818,750,094   8,187,500,940 

Issuance of capital 

stock        

Private placements -  -  -  - 

Stock right offering 

(SRO) -  -  -  - 

 

818,750,094 

 

 8,187,500,940 

 

818,750,094 

 

 8,187,500,940 Balance at end of year    

 
The Bank’s preferred shares are nonvoting, convertible, and are redeemable at the option 
of the Bank.  These shares are entitled to dividend of noncumulative 8.0% per annum for  
Tranche 1 and 6% for both Tranches 2 and 3.   
 
On February 17, 2017, the BOD approved the redemption of all the issued and 
outstanding preferred shares of the Bank at par value of P620.0 million through staggered 
redemption.  However, as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, none of the preferred 
shares have been redeemed yet and the Bank has considered conversion of the preferred 
shares to common shares instead.   
 
On January 9, 2013, the PSE approved the Bank’s application for the listing of its 
common shares.  The approval covered the IPO of 101,333,400 unissued common shares 
of the Bank at P31.50 per share and the listing of those shares in the PSE’s main board on 
February 19, 2013, its day of listing.  The Bank offered its 101,333,400 unissued common 
to the public at the approved P31.50 per share resulting in the recognition of additional 
paid-in capital of P1,998.4 million, net of transaction costs.    
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On May 21, 2021 and June 25, 2021, during the regular BOD meeting and annual 
stockholder’s meeting, respectively, the BOD and stockholders approved the change of the 
preferred shares features from nonconvertible to convertible to common shares and from 
nonredeemable to redeemable.  However, it did not materialize due to the complexities in 
the requirements.  Hence, on April 20, 2022 and July 27, 2022, during the regular BOD 
meeting and annual stockholder’s meeting, respectively, the BOD and stockholders re-
approved the change of the preferred shares feature from nonconvertible to convertible to 
common shares.   
 
During the regular BOD meeting of the Bank on April 20, 2022, the BOD re-approved  
the increase in the Bank’s ACS in line with the continuing expansion of the Bank’s core 
deposit-and-lending business since the application for increase of capital, as provided in  
the Revised Corporation Code, must be made within six months from approval of the 
BOD and shareholders.  On July 27, 2022, during the annual stockholders’ meeting, the 
stockholders also re-approved such increase in authorized capital stock.  On September 26, 
2022, the Bank filed the application for the increase in ACS with the SEC from P10,000.0 
million to P15,000.0 million.  On November 28, 2022, the Bank received the certificate of 
authority from the BSP for the increase in ACS, and subsequently, on January 19, 2023, the 
Bank obtained the necessary approval from the SEC. 
 
On August 17, 2022, during the regular BOD meeting of the Bank, the BOD approved the 
offer consisting of P1,750,000,000 worth of shares, which (a) P1,250,000,000 shall consist 
of advance subscriptions by the Principal Shareholders out of the P5,000,000,000 increase 
in ACS of the Bank, by way of private placement; and (b) up to P500,000,000 SRO to 
eligible shareholders as of record date equivalent to 50,000,000 common shares at P10.00 
per share, for the purpose of increasing capital and for general corporate requirements.   
 
Relative to the increase in ACS as discussed above, the Bank’s principal shareholders have 
subscribed to P1,250.0 million, equivalent to 25% of the P5,000.0 million increase in ACS, 
through a private placement transaction.  On September 21, 2022, the principal 
shareholders paid P312.5 million or 25% of the minimum paid-up capital increase 
requirement and is presented as Deposit on Future Stock Subscription in the 2022 
statement of financial position. On January 10, 2023, the Bank received P937.5 million 
from the Principal Shareholders as full payment.  Subsequently, on January 20, 2023, the 
Bank issued the 125,000,000 shares to the Principal Shareholders following the receipt of 
SEC approval on the P5,000 million increase in ACS on January 19, 2023.   
 
On February 13, 2023, the Bank received the Notice of Confirmation of Exempt 
Transaction from the SEC with respect to the Bank’s stock rights offering.  Subsequently, 
on February 22, 2023, the PSE approved the Bank’s application to list up to 50,000,000 
common shares subject to its SRO which is offered to its eligible shareholders as of March 
10, 2023, the record date.  The offer period started on March 17, 2023, and ended on 
March 23, 2023, with the listing date on March 31, 2023.   
 
Accordingly, after the private placement and the SRO, the Bank’s total outstanding and 
issued common shares is 818,750,094. 
 
As of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Bank has 67 holders of its listed common 
stock.  The Bank has 818,750,094 common shares traded in the PSE as of June 30, 2025 
and December 31, 2024, respectively, and its share price closed at P8.89 and P9.70, 
respectively, as at the same dates.   
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17.8 Dividend 
 

On May 22, 2019, the Bank’s BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends on 
preferred shares amounting to P198.0 million, which was fully paid in July 12, 2019. The 
dividend was based on the cumulative balance of the outstanding preferred shares for the 
years 2014 to 2018. 

 
On April 20, 2022, the Bank’s BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends on 
preferred shares amounting to P118.8 million, which was fully paid in May 4, 2022. The 
dividend was based on the cumulative balance of the outstanding preferred shares for the 
years 2019 to 2021. 
 
On April 19, 2023, the Bank’s BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends on 
preferred shares amounting to P39.6 million, which was fully paid in May 17, 2023. The 
dividend was based on the cumulative balance of the outstanding preferred shares for the 
year 2022. 
 
On July 19, 2023, the Bank’s BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends on common 
shares amounting to P286.6 million, which was fully paid in August 15, 2023. The dividend 
was based on the cumulative balance of the outstanding common shares for the year 2022. 
 
On May 15, 2024, the Bank’s BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends on 
Preferred and common shares amounting to P39.6 million and 368.4 million respectively, 
which was fully paid in June 10, 2024. The dividend was based on the cumulative balance 
of the outstanding common shares for the year 2023. 
 
On June 18, 2025, the Bank’s BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends on 
Preferred and common shares amounting to P39.6 million and 368.4 million respectively, 
which will be payable in July 23, 2025. The dividend was based on the cumulative balance 
of the outstanding common shares for the year 2024. 
 

17.9 Appropriated Surplus 
 
Appropriated surplus consist of: 
 
(a) General loan loss reserve, which pertains to the accumulated amount of 

appropriation from Surplus made by the Bank arising from the excess of the one-
percent GLLP for outstanding loans as required by the BSP under Circular No. 1011, 
Guidelines on the Adoption of PFRS 9, over the computed allowance for ECL for Stage 1 
accounts; and, 
 

(b) Reserve for trust business representing the accumulated amount set aside by the Bank 
under existing regulations requiring the Bank to appropriate and transfer to surplus 
10% of its net profits accruing from their trust business until the surplus shall 
amount to 20% of the regulatory capital.  The reserve shall not be paid out in 
dividends, but losses accruing in the course of the trust business may be charged 
against this account. 

 
Trust reserves representing a portion of the Bank’s income from trust operations were 
made in compliance with BSP regulations.   
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On August 16, 2003, the BOD approved the establishment of a sinking fund for the 

exclusive purpose of the redemption of redeemable preferred shares should the Bank opt 

to redeem the shares.  However, as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the sinking 

fund for the redemption of redeemable preferred shares is yet to be established. 

 
17.10 Paid-in Capital from IPO 

 
The Bank’s common shares were listed at the PSE in February 2013. The total proceeds 
received from the IPO amounted to P3,191.9 million which exceeded par value by 
P1,998.4 million, net of share issuance cost of P180.2 million.  The excess over par value is 
presented as Additional Paid-in Capital in the statements of financial position. 

 
 

18 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 

The following are the other commitment contingent liabilities of the Bank: 
 

(a) In the normal course of the Bank’s operations, the Bank has various outstanding 
commitments and contingent liabilities such as guarantees, commitments to extend 
credit, and others, which are not reflected in the financial statements.  

 
(b) There are other commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities that arise in the 

normal course of the Bank’s operations that are not reflected in the financial statements.  
The Bank recognizes in its books any losses and liabilities incurred in the course of its 
operations as soon as these become determinable and quantifiable. 

 
As of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, management is of the opinion that losses, if any, 
from the foregoing items will not have a material effect on the Bank’s financial statements.  

 
19 EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 
Basic and diluted earnings per share are computed as follows: 
            
            

     2025    2024     2023  
   
 Net profit P 1,065,441,955 P 1,032,045,490 P 869,242,648 
 Dividends on preferred shares  ( 39,600,000) (       39,600,000 )(         39,600,000 )  
 Net profit attributable to common 
  shareholders  1,025,841,955  992,445,490  829,642,648 
 Divided by the weighted average  
  number of outstanding common  
  shares  818,750,094  818,750,094  818,750,094 
 
 Basic earnings per share P 1.25 P 1.21 P 1.01 

 
As of June 30, 2025, December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Bank has no outstanding potentially 
dilutive securities; hence, basic earnings per share is equal to diluted earnings per share. 
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SCHEDULE OF AGING OF LOANS RECEIVABLES 
(PSE Requirement per Circular No. 2164-99) 
As of June 30, 2025 
    

Current Accounts (by maturity)   

Up to 12 months 60,670,931,056 

Over 1 year to 3 years 17,251,237,325 

Over 3 years to 5 years 20,229,622,427 

Over 5 years 20,392,580,265 

    

Past due and items in litigations 7,844,789,695 

   

Loans Receivables (gross) 126,389,160,768 

   

Less:  

Unearned and other deferred income 218,404,782 

Allowance for credit losses 6,767,529,259 

   

Loans Receivables (Net) 119,403,226,727 
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FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS 
(As Required by SRC Rule) 
  

  June 30, 2025 December 31, 2024 

Current Ratio 
(1)

 
92.2% 89.9% 

Solvency Ratio 
(2)

 
1.14x 1.13x 

Debt-to-equity 
(3)

 
7.05x 

1 

7.68x 

Asset-to-equity 
(4)

 
8.05x 8.68x 

Interest rate coverage ratio 
(5)

 
1.66x 1.60x 

Return on Equity 
(6)

 
10.78% 9.54% 

Return on Assets 
(7)

 
1.29% 1.34% 

Net Interest Margin 
(8) 

 
4.7% 4.3% 

Cost-to-Income Ratio 
(9)

 
56.9% 54.8% 

  
  
            Notes: 
  

(1)     Current assets divided by current liabilities 
(2)     Total assets divided by total liabilities 
(3)     Total liabilities divided by total equity 
(4)     Total assets divided by total equity 
(5)     Income before interest and taxes divided by interest expense 
(6)     Net income divided by average total equity for the periods indicated 
(annualized) 
(7)     Net income divided by average total assets for the periods indicated 
(annualized) 
(8)     Net interest income divided by average interest-earning assets (incl. interbank 
loans, trading and investment securities and loans) 
(9)    Other expenses (excl. provision for impairment and credit losses)divided by 
the sum of interest and other income for the periods indicated 

 
 


